

Kent Academic Repository

Oladele, Olusegun S. (2022) *The Effect of a Congested Season on the Match Activity of Professional Football Players.* Master of Science by Research (MScRes) thesis, University of Kent,.

Downloaded from <u>https://kar.kent.ac.uk/97168/</u> The University of Kent's Academic Repository KAR

The version of record is available from https://doi.org/10.22024/UniKent/01.02.97168

This document version UNSPECIFIED

DOI for this version

Licence for this version CC BY-SA (Attribution-ShareAlike)

Additional information

Versions of research works

Versions of Record

If this version is the version of record, it is the same as the published version available on the publisher's web site. Cite as the published version.

Author Accepted Manuscripts

If this document is identified as the Author Accepted Manuscript it is the version after peer review but before type setting, copy editing or publisher branding. Cite as Surname, Initial. (Year) 'Title of article'. To be published in *Title of Journal*, Volume and issue numbers [peer-reviewed accepted version]. Available at: DOI or URL (Accessed: date).

Enquiries

If you have questions about this document contact <u>ResearchSupport@kent.ac.uk</u>. Please include the URL of the record in KAR. If you believe that your, or a third party's rights have been compromised through this document please see our <u>Take Down policy</u> (available from <u>https://www.kent.ac.uk/guides/kar-the-kent-academic-repository#policies</u>).

THE EFFECT OF A CONGESTED SEASON ON THE MATCH ACTIVITY OF PROFESSIONAL FOOTBALL PLAYERS

Olusegun S. Oladele

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the master's by research Sport and Exercise Science

School of Sport and Exercise Sciences

University of Kent

October 2021

ABSTRACT

The effect of fixture congestion in football has been researched extensively over the years. There have only been studies over congested fixture periods, none have investigated a whole fixture congested season. This is primarily due to there not being a pandemic that has affected the football season before as it did the 2020/21 season. To our knowledge there has not been a study to investigate the effect of COVID-19 and the subsequent fixture congestion that was caused the following season after that. Thus, the purpose of this study is to ascertain whether there has been an effect on the activity of professional football players due to the 2020/21 congested season. The study included 65 players from a team in the English Football League One over three seasons that met a specific involvement criterion. This study used a data analysis method to look at three different periods of this season and compare those same periods with a counterpart from previous seasons, using the metrics provided by the Global Positioning System (GPS) data. The metrics to be looked at include high speed distance (HSD) and total distance (TD). As a whole season across all three periods there was no significant differences for TD or HSD between 2020/21 and 2019/20 season (P = 0.88 and P = 0.28, respectively). However, mean TD and HSD from 2020/21 (24784 ± 10111; 2055 ± 905, respectively) were only slightly higher than those of 2019/20 (24280 ± 11860; 1885 ± 890, respectively) in both instances. In conclusion, this current study has shown that there was no effect for TD and HSD, this is in line with previous research, but more research is needed on the topic.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

THE EFFECT OF A CONGESTED SEASON ON THE MATCH ACTIVITY OF PROFESS	SIONAL
FOOTBALL PLAYERS	i
ABSTRACT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iii
LIST OF FIGURES	iv
LIST OF TABLES	v
DEFINITIONS	vi
CHAPTER I: INTROUDCTION	1
Chapter II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE	6
Introduction	6
Intermittent sports physiology	7
Training Load	16
Internal Load	
External Load	22
Performance Analysis	23
Time motion analysis	25
Semi-automated multi camera tracking systems	27
GPS	29
Reliability and Validity of GPS	30
GPS in making activity profiles	35
COVID and impact of demands in football	38
Research aims	40
CHAPTER III: METHODS	
Chapter IV: RESULTS	
Chapter V: DISCUSSIONS	
Limitations/Future research	59
Conclusions	62
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Title	Page number
4.1	Mean ± SD showing (A) TD and (B) HSD. * Indicates significant difference between the years for that period	40
4.2	Values are mean ± SD. † Denotes significant difference between 2020/21 and 2019/20 for the same position in the same period. * Denotes significant difference between 2020/21 and 2018/19 for the same position in the same period.	44

LIST OF TABLES

Table	Title	Page number
3.1	Breakdown of number of players in each position	35
11	Differences in Total distance over the three periods and in total	38
4.1	Differences in Total distance over the three periods and in total	50
4.2	Differences in High-speed distance over the three periods and in total	38
4.3	Differences Total distance for different positions for each period and in total	42
4.4	Differences High speed distance for different positions for each period and in	43
	total.	
4.5	Differences in initial	40
4.5	Differences in injuries	43

DEFINITIONS

- ATP Adenosine trisphosphate
- B[La] Blood lactate concentration
- BL Body load
- CV Coefficient of variation
- FCSen Fixture congestion scenario
- GPS Global positioning system
- HR Heart rate
- HSD High speed distance
- MEMS Micro electro mechanical system
- O₂ Oxygen
- PCR Phosphocreatine
- TD Total distance
- TL Training load
- VO₂ Rate of oxygen uptake
- VO_{2peak} Maximal rate of oxygen uptake

CHAPTER I: INTROUDCTION

Intermittent sports, such as football, consist of periods of short, high intensity efforts, interchanged with periods of low intensity activity and rest (Tschakert & Hofmann, 2013). Therefore, football and many intermittent sports depend on the ability of an athlete being able to perform a high number of repeated sprints. An individual's ability to perform repeated sprints depends on aerobic fitness (Hamilton et al., 1991), the ability to buffer H⁺ ions (Bishop et al., 2004), and the distance and recovery duration of the sprints (Balsom et al., 1992a; Balsom et al., 1992b). As a result, several physiological systems (the cardiovascular system, the endocrine system, the muscular system, the nervous system, the respiratory system, and the skeletal system) are used during a match, which is often complemented by strenuous training sessions (Reilly, 2006).

The capacity to recover from intense training, competition and matches is often considered an important determinant of subsequent performance (Odetoyinbo et al., 2008). But what if the ability to recover in the usual amount time was shortened and not just for a succession of matches (Kovacs et al., 2020; Odetoyinbo et al., 2008; Rey et al., 2010) but for much of the season? This was the case in the 2020/21 season as the previous football season was affected by COVID-19. Some were ended prior to full conclusion of season, others were postponed and re started in a condensed manner. However, after the 2019/20 season ended all that was assured was that the 2020/21 season would start later than usual and would need be condensed down so the season could finish in usual month of May. Thus, allowing the usual season to start and finish in the normal time frame for the 2021/22 season.

This meant there would not just be congested period but the whole season would face congestion. The season would have more Matches packed together, and effectively play every 3 - 4 days for much of the season. This would cause more strain and load on the players having to play roughly the same number of matches in a shorter period, hence the importance of global positioning system (GPS) monitoring became a bigger factor this season. In a normal season there are 6 days between matches with a few 3 - 4 days sporadically throughout the season.

Performance analysis has become a huge factor in sport. Performance analysis of sport is the investigation of actual sports performance or performance in training (O'Donoghue, 2009). This can include observational data, quantitative data, qualitative data, notational analysis, perceived exertion, heart rate (HR) responses and time motion analysis systems such as GPS and semi-automatic video tracking. Time motion analysis being the more used form of performance analysis in modern football. Over the years numerous semi-automatic video tracking and GPS analysis have been used to determine the physical profile of football players (Casamichana et al., 2012; Di Salvo et al., 2007; Mohr et al., 2003; Krustrup et al., 2003; Krustrup et al., 2005; Suarez-Arrones et al., 2014). From previous research such things have been understood. For example, a typical total distance covered during a match is 10 -13km, most of this distance is covered by walking and low-intensity running, hence making the high-intensity exercise periods important in terms of energy production (Bangsbo et al., 2006). Another example is, it has been generally recognised that midfielders cover greater distances in a game than defenders and forwards (Di Salvo et al., 2007; Mohr et al., 2003; Suarez-Arrones et al., 2014). Thus, with these activity profiles for football already being created GPS looks set to increase our knowledge

by revealing how players physical profiles evolves with age, how it varies according to position, how it varies across whole seasons and between competitive versus training contexts (Buchheit et al., 2010; Casamichana et al., 2012; Malone et al., 2015; Mendez-Villanueva et al., 2013; Ritchie et al., 2016).

Knowing theses activity profiles, it is of interest if these profiles would be affected by fixture congestion. In a study by Odetoyinbo et al. (2008), the authors examined the effect of a succession of matches on the activity profiles of professional football players when three matches were played in five days. Their findings suggested that the activity profiles were not influenced by the short recovery periods between matches. The findings were supported by Djaoui et al. (2014); Rey et al. (2010); Varley et al., (2018). The studies all used different ways to show congestion, but all the studies used semi-automated tracking systems. When studies researching the effect of congestion used GPS devices there were contrast in the results to previous research. Kovacs et al. (2020) found elite youth football players produced low physical performance outputs during a fixture congestion across 3 matches. Furthermore, Jones et al. (2018) reported a small but significant effect within match patterns of total distance, low intensity distance, and sprint distance across the three fixture congestion scenario (FCSen). More research is needed on the effect of congestion using GPS devices as there are fewer studies. This is due to the rules of GPS technology being approved for use in competition only being approved in 2015 (Fédération Internationale de Football Association (FIFA), 2015).

For the purpose of this study the team analysed are in the English Football League One and due to the effect of COVID-19, it Condensed the 2020/21 down to 35 weeks

compared to 39 weeks in 2018/19 season which was the last full season. In football terms 4 weeks could mean an extra 8 matches being spaced into those weeks but instead would be condensed down. Additionally, in the 35 weeks the club would need to complete all competitive league and cup matches. In total they played 55 matches in 35 weeks, compared to 55 matches in 39 weeks in the 2018/19 season. Therefore, GPS match analysis would allow players to be monitored in matches and training to see if there are any differences in their activity levels, so that adjustments could be made.

Although there has been quantification of load across whole seasons using GPS (Anderson et al., 2016; Malone et al., 2015; Ritchie et al., 2016) only over congested periods (Jones et al., 2018; Kovacs et al., 2020), there has not been any over a congested whole season only. To our knowledge there has not been a study to investigate the effect of COVID-19 and the subsequent congestion that was caused the following season after that. Therefore, this present study will look to follow on from the work of Jones et al. (2018) and Kovacs et al. (2020) which used GPS as a way of analysing the effect of congestion on football players and to determine if there is an effect as suggested by the studies. This study will also use similar methods to Djaoui et al. (2014) by using separate periods of the season and comparing those periods with previous years to see if there has been any significant difference in each period and as whole season.

Thus, the purpose of this study is to ascertain whether there has been an effect of a congested season on the activity of professional football players. Using a specific protocol that allows comparisons to be made with previous seasons to see if there

have been any significant differences. This allowing us to answer the specific research aims to determine whether there is an effect on elite football players match activity due to a more congested 2020/21 season compared to previous seasons. Therefore, will determine:

- If there has been a greater total distance (TD) and high-speed distance (HSD) placed on the players in the congested season compared to previous
- If there are any significant differences in individual positions match activity in the congested season compared to previous
- 3. If there has been an increase in the frequency of injuries in the congested season compared to previous.

Chapter II: REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Introduction

Football and performance analysis have been intertwined consistently, as the main reason for performance analysis is to enhance sport performance (O'Donoghue, 2014). Football is an intermittent sport that is performed with a combination of brief periods of maximal and near maximal efforts, where players have highly complex movement patterns that are unpredictable and dictated by numerous variables (Krustrup et al., 2006; Mohr et al., 2003; Rampinini et al., 2007a; Rampinini et al., 2007b). The detailed analysis of the activity profiles of football match can be determined through estimation of distance covered and fluctuations in running intensity (Mohr et al., 2003; Rampinini et al., 2007a). Therefore, individual physical performance profile can be created, which can be used to define training orientations and/or design football specific training drills (Di Salvo et al., 2007). Furthermore, the quantification of physical demands of training sessions is integral in monitoring players and training load (TL) management (Malone et al., 2015; Ritchie et al., 2016; Scott et al., 2013). Thus, monitoring players' physical activity has become the norm in professional football (Carling, 2013). The three methods commonly used to monitor players in football are manual video based time motion analysis, multiple camera semiautomatic systems and GPS.

This review attempts to summarise intermittent physiology, highlighting the aerobic and anaerobic contributions. The review will attempt to introduce performance analysis underlining the key fundamental area that are related to football. The review will then explore the different performance analysis methods in relation to football. In

doing so, we then aim to provide an extensive review of performance analysis methods and in particular GPS.

Intermittent sports physiology

Intermittent sport physiology is an area that has been heavily researched (Bangsbo et al., 2006; Mohr et al., 2003; Spencer et al., 2005). Intermittent sports consist of periods of short, high intensity efforts, interchanged with periods of low intensity activity and rest (Tschakert & Hofmann, 2013). This is essential in many team sports such as football, rugby, and basketball. The different intensities associated with intermittent exercise means that the aerobic system cannot cope alone with the energy demands. Previous studies have shown that aerobic loading is high throughout the competition and that anaerobic energy turnover is extensive during periods of competition. (Krustrup et al., 2006; McInnes et al., 1995).

Football and many intermittent sports depend on the ability of an athlete to be able to perform a high number of repeated sprints. An individual's ability to perform repeated sprints depends on aerobic fitness (Hamilton et al., 1991), the ability to buffer H⁺ ions (Bishop et al., 2004), and the distance and recovery duration of the sprints (Balsom et al., 1992a; Balsom et al., 1992b). Edwards et al. (1973) also found that Lactate concentration were higher during intermittent exercise in comparison to continuous exercise. During protocols where there was work periods of 10s or 30s, both with 30s recovery intervals, and once continuously. In a study by Bishop & Spencer (2004), when recovery periods were less than 30s between sprints, it is thought that the restoration of power output from the following sprints are reliant on factors other than peak rate of oxygen uptake (VO_{2peak}) and phosphocreatine (PCr) resynthesis.

Additionally, Dupont et al. (2004) highlighted that when intermittent activity (15s exercise & 15s recovery) is combined with passive recovery, time to exhaustion was over twice as long as when combined with active recovery (40% VO_{2peak}); (962 \pm 314 s vs. 427 \pm 118 s). This could be explained by the slower deoxygenation, the lower energy constraint and faster oxygen replenishment during passive recovery, as metabolic power was lower than when active recovery was carried out. However, another study found that active recovery led to a higher peak power output than passive recovery (Signorile et al., 1993). Whilst these studies demonstrate the benefits of each recovery method over the other, the measurement criteria used in both studies differ. More important the studies show that in intermittent sports the recovery period is crucial for maintaining and synthesising power output over the duration of the activity. From the above it could be suggested that at least 30s of recovery (must include a portion of active recovery) is needed to restore power output over the duration.

As previously stated, during intermittent activity energy is obtained from both anaerobic and aerobic metabolism (Lemmink et al., 2006). Furthermore, many of the sports have a duration between 20 minutes and 90 minutes (Silva et al., 2018). This means that the aerobic energy system is the main regenerator of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) as it is effective for up to 2 hours (Tumility, 1993). Therefore, muscle glycogen is the most important substrate for energy production and the depletion of these stores will lead to fatigue as activity goes on (Bangsbo et al, 2006). The ability to regenerate ATP is extremely important in the recovery periods as most of the ATP and PCr depleted in the muscle are restored, with 70% of the phosphagens restored within 30s and 100% restored within 3 to 5 minutes (Hultman

et al., 1967, cited in Tomlin & Wenger, 2001). If ATP replenishes completely, it will mean more ATP is available for anaerobic periods of activity, which reduces relying on the PCR which has a more limited ATP production.

A study by Drust et al. (2000) investigated football players using an intermittent football specific protocol. The protocol devised for the study was performed on a motorized treadmill (Quinton, Washington, USA) and consisted of the different exercise intensities that are observed during a football match (e.g., walking, jogging, cruising, sprinting). The findings from the intermittent football specific protocol were that the participants worked around 68% of their VO_{2peak}. In addition, Bangsbo et al. (2006), completed a review article on the physical and metabolic demands of training and match-play in the elite football player. It was suggested that the average VO₂ by football players in a game is around 70% VO_{2peak}. This suggestion was considered in consideration of dehydration, hyperthermia, and mental stress elevation of heart rate (HR) without affecting oxygen (O₂) uptake. The results are parallel to those of Drust et al. (2000) and they suggest as the game progresses in duration, free fatty acids present in the blood increases which may indicate increased fat oxidation as glycogen levels deplete (Bangsbo et al., 2007). The contribution of the aerobic system has also been stated by using HR. Although HR may indicate intensity, it does not directly reflect aerobic energy contribution. Therefore, the HR values can be converted to VO₂ using the relationship between HR and VO₂ obtained in treadmill running (Esposito et al., 2004; Krustrup & Bangsbo, 2001). Mean and peak values of HR were reported at 85 and 98% respectively (Ali & Farrally, 1991; Andrews & Itsiopoulos, 2016; Bangsbo et al., 2006). Furthermore, a study showed football players worked at a mean of 85 ± 2% of HR peak during friendly matches (Mohr et al., 2004). This shows that either in a laboratory or in field similar

physiological work intensities were being achieved, therefore, justifying the use of HR values and the conversion to O_2 uptake as many studies have attained similar results.

These studies show the aerobic contributions in intermittent sports such as football, and other intermittent sport such as basketball have shown similar contributions. Basketball is a sport that involves high amounts of accelerations and decelerations. McInnes et al. (1995), completed an investigation on basketball players during matches. Players achieved a mean of $89 \pm 2\%$ of HR peak (which was attained in a laboratory test) for the duration of the match. Furthermore, the study found that both females and males worked at $66.7 \pm 7.5\%$ and $64.7 \pm 7.0\%$ of VO₂ max respectively (Narazaki et al., 2009). These values are similar to football, which suggest a high reliance of aerobic energy supply. All these findings establish that aerobic energy system contributes for the largest proportion of energy usage in intermittent sports, especially football.

Intermittent sports also have highly important anaerobic periods. As stated above lactate concentration has been found to be higher in intermittent exercise. Therefore, blood lactate concentration (B[La]) has been used as an estimate of anaerobic contributions to the energy demands of intermittent sports (McLean, 1992; McInnes et al., 1995). McInnes et al. (1995), stated B[La] has a balance between lactate entry into and removal from blood and although it cannot directly quantify the extent glycolysis, despite this it is used as a crude indicator of glycolytic involvement. Although B[La] can be used as an indicator it is not always accurate. This is due to the collection of blood samples in intermittent sports only being taken in stoppages and not the

intensive plays. Therefore, this leads to underestimation of B[La] due to B[La] being metabolised during low intensity periods and not intensive periods (Mclean, 1992). Krustrup et al. (2006) completed a study where players took part in three friendly football matches. B[La] was taken after intense periods at different stages of the match. B[La] in 20 football players was found to be 6.0 ± 0.4 mmol/L and 5.0 ± 0.4 mmol/L, in the first and second half, respectively. The B[La] being lower in the second half may be due to the decreasing rate of glycolysis as a result of a reduction in glycogen levels of individual muscle fibres. The is a decrease in the blood lactate as the match progressed could also be because the match analysed in the study was a friendly match and therefore the intensity of the match could have dropped off or not as many sprints completed in the second half. Hence, a lower B[La] in the second half. These values were similar to those found in Drust et al. (2000) where values of 7.7 \pm 0.6mmol/L were observed during the intermittent football specific protocol.

Furthermore, McLean (1992) also found high B[La] in rugby union players which ranged from 5.8 – 9.8mmol/L. The B[La] was taken during passages of penalty kicks and injury stoppages. This may allow for underestimation of the values as stated previously. Though values may be underestimated, the research are an indication of high anaerobic energy production during intermittent exercise. The wide range in B[La] was also in McInnes et al. (1995) where it was attributed to varying intensities of the game, the different physiological characteristics of the subjects and possibly the amount of time played. Furthermore, McInnes et al. (1995) reported that the lower B[La] recorded during some periods of play may indicate that the predominant sources of energy during such periods were PCr stores and aerobic metabolism. Prolonged periods of play without frequent interruptions are likely to have resulted in an increased dependence on anaerobic glycolysis, as inadequate time between sprints will lead to

ATP not fully being resynthesised by the oxidative pathway. Hence the use of anaerobic glycolysis as main generator to maintain performance, resulting in relatively high B[La], as metabolic requirements associated with the maximum period (13.5s) of uninterrupted high intensity activity are likely to be considerable.

Other methods estimating anaerobic energy production include muscle biopsy. Muscle biopsies have been obtained before and after intense exercise. Studies have obtained muscle biopsy to estimate the decrease in muscle ATP and PCr, as well as accumulation of metabolites like pyruvate and lactate (Medbo & Tabata, 1993; Nevill et al., 1996). Muscle biopsy samples have been shown to be analysed for total water content by weighing the samples before and after freeze drying (Bangsbo et al., 1996; Hellsten et al., 1999). Subsequently the samples are analysed for PCr, lactate and glycogen by fluorometric assays (Lowry & Passonneau, 1972, cited in Bangsbo et al., 1996). However, determining the anaerobic energy turnover during whole body exercise such as cycling from a muscle sample is difficult, because the mass and the activity of the muscles involved are unknown. The metabolic response of the sample may also not be representative of all muscles included in the exercise (Bangsbo, 1998). During intermittent sports, Krustrup et al. (2006) obtained muscle biopsies after intense exercise periods in friendly football matches. Reporting PCr values of 70% higher than those of rest, but this is likely due to a delay (15-30s), from having to get to the side of the pitch or waiting for a stoppage, in obtaining the biopsy. The delay creates another difficulty in attaining accurate results and the process longer than attaining B[La].

Additionally, in intermittent sports there are a variety of different explosive movements that fall into the category of anaerobic movements. The most prevalent in intermittent sports including football is repeated sprinting. Intermittent sports do not involve singular sprints followed by significant periods of rest but more accurately involve lowintensity continuous activity combined with frequent maximal sprinting, turning, acceleration and deceleration (Mohr et al., 2003). There have been many studies into influences of repeated sprints such as Bogdanis et al. (1995), who investigated the recovery of power output and muscle metabolites after a 30s maximal sprint cycle. Participants performed two 30s maximal sprints on a cycle ergometer separated by 1.5, 3- and 6-minutes periods of recovery. The results revealed that after sprint 1, PCr replenishment was extremely rapid, reaching 65.0 ± 2.8% of rest PCr after 1.5 minutes. However, peak power output and total work done diminished in comparison to the first 30s sprint. Another study by Bogdanis et al. (1996), specifically analysed the contribution of PCr and the aerobic energy system during repeated sprints. Participants had an initial 30 second sprint followed by a 4-minute recovery period then either a 10 or 30s sprint. After the recovery period, PCr was only resynthesized to 78.7 \pm 3.3% of the resting value. During the second sprint, there was a 41% decrease in anaerobic energy output which decreased the total work done in the second sprint by 18%. This suggests that the power output was maintained via an increase in aerobic energy output. These findings demonstrated that the contribution of the aerobic system changed significantly from the first sprint.

Although these studies (Bogdanis et al., 1996; Mohr et al., 2003) investigated repeated sprinting, both the sprinting duration and recovery times used as conditions do not reflect that of intermittent sport such as football. Andrzejewski et al. (2013) stated that football mainly involves high intensity sprints that are below 5s with short

active recovery periods between them. A study by Gaitanos et al. (1993),

investigated muscle metabolism during ten 6s maximal sprints on a cycle ergometer with each sprint separated by a 30s recovery period. It was reported that by the tenth sprint, power output was 73% of the initial sprint. The results further detailed that relative PCr contribution was similar in the first and last sprint, with aerobic metabolism increasing as the sprints went on. This was supported by Dawson et al. (1997), which was similar in nature and concluded that although the depletion of PCr in the repeated sprint condition was greater than the single sprint condition. Although the rate of replenishment of PCr in the repeated condition was significantly greater compared to the single sprint condition at each time point where data was collected (15.73 vs 10.77 mmol/kg DM for 10s – 30s; and 28.50 vs 16.40 mmol/kg DM for 30s – 3 min).

The replenishment of PCr stores is partially related to oxygen availability as it is resynthesized using ATP that is produced through oxidative pathways (McMahon et al., 2002). The type of recovery is a factor that greatly influences PCr replenishment. Intermittent sports involve active recovery periods through walking and low intensity jogging rather than periods of passive recovery. Active recovery has detrimental effects on repeated sprinting, whether that diminishes the replenishment of PCr or peak power output (Spencer et al., 2006; spencer et al., 2008). This is due to the PCr replenishment being limited by an increased oxygen demand to meet submaximal energy requirements (McMahon et al., 2002). Lactic acidosis would develop at work rates at which O₂ supply is probably inadequate to meet total O₂ demand of all contacting units (Wasserman et al., 2012). This would cause an even bigger issues such as cramps. Muscular cramps are an involuntary, intense and

painful sustained contraction of skeletal muscle, which in exercise result from disturbances of fluid and electrolyte balance resulting from excessive sweat loss (Maughan, 1986). Additionally, Not only does active recovery effect power output, but varying recovery times greatly effect total work done as well. Billaut & Basset (2007) attributed this to increasing and decreasing patterns of recovery affecting both the energy systems and neurological mechanisms. These studies greatly reflect intermittent sport recovery patterns as there is no consistency in both the type and duration of recovery.

In summary, the research has shown that intermittent sports have high physiological demands, running an average of 10 - 13km at an average VO₂ in football match at around 70% VO_{2peak}, whist using multiple energy systems. The use of the systems may be used at different periods of the match or concurrently. The high demands of both energy systems have been shown in the previous studies stated in this review. A percentage of an athlete VO_{2max} is the most appropriate way of showing the aerobic contributions to an activity. Due to the nature of intermittent sports, it is not feasible to directly measure VO₂, therefore HR can be used to estimate it. Moreover, a conversion is not always needed as many previous studies have used HR, values therefore can be compared together to see if similar or different. As for the anaerobic contributions to intermittent sports B[La] is often used. B[La] is used as a crude indicator as not always accurate with intermittent sports due to the collection of samples not at points of high intensity. Muscle biopsy is another method in measuring anaerobic contributions. Though more accurate in measuring the anaerobic contribution in a sample it is not indicative for all the muscles involved in the exercise. There is also a delay in accruing the samples, which is not present in accruing Blood lactate samples. Furthermore, the muscle biopsy is accurate for specific muscle area but when dealing

with intermittent sports, that use whole body movements with no real stoppages other than half time, it is not very effective in measuring anaerobic contributions throughout the exercise. Nevertheless, B[La] does reflect the anaerobic production in intermittent sports but should be interpreted carefully. Lastly, the importance of athlete's ability to perform a high number of repeated sprints has been stressed throughout. This is due to repeated sprinting being the movement most performed in intermittent sports. Therefore, as athletes complete more repeated sprints, due to the time and type of recovery in intermittent sports not being adequate, the oxidative pathway may not fully resynthesise. Thus, the anaerobic glycolysis becomes a greater importance to gain short burst of intense work. Although, if too many sprints in same amount of time, it may not be adequate time to gain full force in sprints using anaerobic glycolysis. Consequently, as sprints accumulate there is a small contribution of an athlete's aerobic metabolism in those sprints. This reaffirming the importance of both energy systems working together in intermittent sport.

Training Load

To measure TL, there is a requirement for the relationship with the outcome parameter. Outcome paraments are the set of outcomes that are used to evaluate what has occurred, whether the outcomes produce a response wanted or prevent a response we would like to avoid. The TL is the prescribed exercise and the response of interest in football is the associated fitness gain, fatigue accrued or injury risk (Akubat & Van Winckel, 2014). To measure the training outcomes physiological test are commonly used, even though the external load (training prescribed by coaches) is often described as the training process (Impellizzeri et al., 2005). The external

load induced adaptation is the actual physiological stress (i.e., internal load) imposed on the athletes by the external load (Booth & Thomason, 1991; Viru &

Viru, 2000). Furthermore, Bouchard & Rankinen, (2001) stated that other factors such as the genetic background and starting fitness level could influence the internal load imposed of the individual, even though the external load is the main determinant of the internal load, and consequently, the TL.

To give an example of the training process, two adult males run a 5km at the same pace and the finish together. One a trained athlete and the other and untrained athlete. The trained athlete would find it less demanding compared to the untrained athlete. Further tests of HR data or lactate would confirm this notion. Furthermore, in football related when two athletes complete the same movement unless their characteristics is the same, they would not show the same response. Therefore, the internal load acts as the stimulus for training outcome. The training process has been conceptualized by Impellizzeri et al. (2005). Figure 2.1 shows how the prescribed training and the characteristics of the individual together combine to for the internal TL.



Fig. 2.1. The Training Process (Impellizzeri et al. 2005)

Measuring TL is particularly difficult in sports such as football, because different exercise designs lead to different physiological and mechanical demands, and there are inter-individual responses to the prescribed exercise (Bangsbo et al., 2006). If TL is difficult to measure in football, why do we do it? Akubat & Winckel, (2014) described the reasoning as, whether it be injury or a fitness test score, we generally react when the response has happened. Given that we want to avoid injuries and frequent testing, due to time constraints, understanding the response to a given training exercise enables us to be proactive in achieving our aims as coaches. To achieve the aims internal and external load are measured to gain a measurement of TL.

Internal Load

The assessment of internal TL requires quantification of the intensity of the physiological stress imposed on the athlete and its duration. While the duration of a training session is easily measurable as time in minutes, intensity can be determined with different methods, such as HR and ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) (Impellizzeri et al., 2005). comparing different players. One of the most widely used HR -based methods to determine internal TL is the "training impulse" (TRIMP) described by Banister (1991). It is calculated by multiplying training session duration by its average intensity (percentage of HR reserve) and by a sex-specific coefficient. This method allows physiologists to quantify internal TL in a single term balancing exercise duration and intensity. Although this model is limited using generic equations for males and females, that implies gender is the only differing factor for

athletes and doesn't take into account the individual differences that affect training as shown the model above (Fig. 2.1.). furthermore, the calculations uses mean HR which may not reflect the fluctuations in the HR that occurring during an intermittent exercise, such as football.

Another method to quantify internal TL is that proposed by Edwards (1993), which entails measuring the product of the accumulated training duration in five HR zones by a coefficient relative to each zone (from 50 – 60% of HRmax = 1 to 90 – 100% of HRmax = 5) and then summing the results. Further methods have tried to validate themselves through their relationship to this method. This has been done on the basis that HR is a valid measure of intensity (Bot and Hollander, 2000). Although, this method gained popularity the coefficients lacked any physiological underpinning and the zone limits remain predefined and lack metabolic or physiological performance thresholds and implies that training adaptation in zone 5 is five times greater than in zone 1, but no study to date has proven this to be the case. (Akubat & Van Winckel, 2014). Furthermore, the same issues provided here occur in a similar approach is to classify the exercise intensity by Lucia et al. (2003). The method based their measure of TL around the first and second ventilatory thresholds (VT1 & VT2). The method provides three zones: low (below VT1), moderate (between VT1 and VT2) and high (above VT2). Each zone is given a coefficient of 1, 2 and 3, respectively. The time spent in each zone is multiplied by the relevant coefficient and summated to provide a TRIMP score.

A modified version of Banister's TRIMP known as TRIMPmod was developed by Stagno et al. (2007) in an attempt to quantify TL for field hockey. Rather than use a generic equation to reflect a hypothetical blood lactate profile, these authors directly measured the blood lactate profile of the hockey players. The weightings they used therefore reflected the profile of a typical blood lactate response curve to increasing exercise intensity for the specific population, in this case the hockey team. While not truly individualized, their method used the mean blood lactate profile from all of the players to generate the weightings, providing at least some degree of individualization. They then anchored five HR zones around the lactate threshold (LT, 1.5 mmol) and the onset of blood lactate accumulation (OBLA, 4 mmol), with the resulting zone weightings being 1.25, 1.71, 2.54, 3.61 and 5.16. The accumulated time in each HR zone was then multiplied by its respective zone weighting to derive an overall TRIMPmod. The research quantified the TL in hockey and established relationships between TRIMPmod and various fitness parameters during the course of a season. Stagno et al. (2007) used the blood lactate responses at four different speeds from their player sample to create an equation for the weightings or the 'Y' value as defined by Banister. Zones 2 and 4 were created around the mean HR at LT and OBLA. A zone width of 7% fractional elevation was formed at these points. Zones 1, 3 and 5 were then created around zones 2 and 4. The pre-requisite for the use of this method was that the HR at LT and OBLA for all players fell within the created zones. Akubat & Van Winckel. (2014) found with a larger squad of players this pre-requisite could not always be met. It must be highlighted that although the zones are based on metabolic criteria, they are created with arbitrary values of lactate and are therefore not individualised to the person but to the team. Another issue with using weighting individualised to a team is that it still does not account for

individual differences. However, at the time this study was very useful. These weightings are specific to that team and to use this approach successfully you would have to do the same testing to produce the weightings specific to your team, but this point was often missed. Furthermore, this study also highlighted that individualisation was needed.

A group of Italian researchers mainly led by Vincenzo Manzi are the first and most prominent researchers of using the method known as iTRIMP. ITRIMP weighting is based on the individual's own HR–blood lactate response to incremental exercise, as measured during a standard lactate threshold test protocol. Furthermore, Manzi, et al. (2009) did not use HR zones or mean HR as previous methods had. The iTRIMP scores were calculated for each HR reading and summated to give an overall iTRIMP score. In comparison to methods employing zones this meant they had effectively created a zone for each HR reading from HRrest to HRmax. Therefore, they had individualised the weighting to the athlete, which goes beyond the individualisation by gender (Banister, 1991) or group (Stagno et al., 2007). Furthermore, the iTRIMP weighting is not arbitrary as in the case of Edwards (1993) and Lucia et al. (2003). Consequently, this method overcomes many of the limitations of previous methods.

Session RPE has been proposed and validated as a method for quantifying internal TL (Foster et al., 2001). Session RPE is a subjective method of quantifying the load placed on an athlete. It is calculated by multiplying the session intensity by the duration to provide a measure of load in arbitrary units. The intensity is described as a number (0-10) on the CR-10 Rating of Perceived Exertion (RPE) scale originally

proposed by Borg et al. (1987). To verify the utility of Foster's RPE method as an indicator of aerobic TL in soccer, Impellizerri, et al., (2004) compares the session RPE method with various HR based methods: Banister's (1991), Edwards' (1993) and Lucia, et al. (2003). Suggesting the usefulness of RPE to monitor internal TL in soccer, they found significant individual correlations between HR based TL and Session RPE(r = 0.50 – 0.85; P 50.01). In addition to physiological variables, several psychological factors (e.g. anxiety and depression) can influence RPE during exercise (Morgan, 1994). The psychobiological nature of the RPE (Borg, 1982) could be particularly useful in preventing overtraining or over-reaching, because of the well-known multifactorial nature of these syndromes (Kentta & Hassmen, 1998; Morgan, 1994). Although the simplicity of session RPE cannot be denied, the limited usefulness of the information it provides has to be questioned. Furthermore, those studies claiming to assess RPE's validity against HR based methods fail to assess the validity of the HR based methods (Akubat, 2012).

External Load

The measurement of external load in soccer goes as far back as 1952 (Winterbottom, 1952) when hand notation methods were used to estimate the external demands of a game through the use of distance covered during a match. Reilly & Thomas (1976), were first to study the classical method, which used a camera to measure each player. The subject was videotaped for references purposes whist performing specific activities from walking to sprinting, in order to code for various match activities performed (Carling et al., 2008; Reilly, 2003). . In more recent history the

use of automated camera systems brought the use of distance and break downs of the velocities at which distances were covered to the fore. This method allowed determination of positional differences (Di Salvo et al., 2007), levels of play (Mohr et al., 2003) and the match-to-match variation (Gregson et al., 2010). In more recent times, the invention and use of GPS has changed the way we are able to track, monitor load on players and performance. The use of these devices has also bought many challenges as they are also now equipped with accelerometers, gyroscopes, magnetometers meaning the wealth of data that you can end up with is considerable. In conclusion all methods are used to analysis the performance that has taken place whether at training or during a match.

Performance Analysis

Performance analysis has become a huge factor in sport over the last 40 years, from analysing simple observation of movements to analysis of play at multiple different angles. Performance analysis of sport is the investigation of actual sports performance or performance in training (O'Donoghue, 2009). O'Donoghue (2009), proposed that any research that involves analysis of actual sport in training or competition can be classed under performance analysis. That this was not limited to observational data but quantitative data, qualitative data, notational analysis, perceived exertion, HR responses and time motion analysis systems such as GPS and automatic video tracking. Furthermore, the main reason for performance analysis is to enhance sport performance although there are uses in rehabilitation, academic, media, and judging contexts to sports performance analysis (O'Donoghue, 2014). Moreover, it was identified that the five purposes of sport performance analysis were analysis of

technique, analysis of effectiveness, tactical analysis, analysis of movement and analysis of decision making. (Hughes, 1998, cited in O'Donoghue's, 2009). O'Donoghue (2014) description of the above purposes are as follows. Analysis of technique focuses on the mechanical details of the skills performed. Whereas analysis of effectiveness considers how well the skill is performed according to the outcome. Tactical evaluation is able to be made through analysing patterns of events based on skills performed, location of events, timing and the players involved. Through these observational analysis and indirect way of analysing tactical decisions can be made. Decision making coincides with tactical evaluation as it includes the tactical choices made by players. The reason for the separate category is too also cover the decisions of match officiators. The analysis of movement is more focused in gaining an understanding of the physical activity profile of sports, tactical elements as well as injury risk within those sports (O'Donoghue, 2008)

Although each purpose is important for this review the focus will be on the analysis of movement. The most common way analysis of movement is analysed is through time motion analysis. Time motion analysis refers to the locomotive movements performed by athletes and how these indicate the physical activity profile of the game. Where time motion analysis is concentred with the whole game not just on the ball movement (O'Donoghue, 2009). This has allowed the energy systems involved in racket sports (Richers, 1995, cited in O'Donoghue, 2009) and field games (Spencer et al., 2004) to be estimated. There are different ways time motion analysis can be attained. One way is to analyse distribution of match time among different movement classes (O'Donoghue, 2014). This can be done broadly by assessing a few movement classes (Reilly & Thomas, 1976, cited in Reilly, 2003) or with more detailed movement classes. The more detailed classes were classed by Bloomfield et al. (2004), who including

details of straight and arced movements, direction of movement with respect to aspects faced by the player, turns and swerves. Another way to analyse movement is to track player location, this can be attained through GPS systems or semi-automatic tracking data systems (Buchheit et al., 2014; Coutts & Duffield, 2010; Randers et al., 2010; Wisbey et al., 2010). Professional football is a result driven sport and any advantage to enhance sport performance is encouraged. Thus, monitoring players' physical activity has become the norm in professional football (Carling, 2013). The three methods commonly used to monitor players in football and will be discussed further are manual video based time motion analysis, multiple camera semi-automatic systems and GPS.

Time motion analysis

Time motion analysis as stated above, refers to the locomotive movements performed by athletes and how these indicate the physical activity profile of the game (O'Donoghue, 2009). The classical method which was first study by Reilly & Thomas (1976). The method involved positioning video cameras at the side of the pitch, in line with the middle of the pitch. The cameras were positioned approximately at a height of 15m and a distance of 30 – 40m from the touchline. Each camera is used to film a separate player. The subject was videotaped for references purposes whist performing specific activities from walking to sprinting, in order to code for various match activities performed (Carling et al., 2008; Reilly, 2003). The duration of each activity was recorded, total time summed, and frequency of activity calculated to separate time blocks. The product of mean velocity and total time spent in activity, was the distance covered at each velocity within each time block. Finally, total distance covered during

a match was calculated as the sum of the distances covered during each individual type of locomotor activity (Carling et al., 2008).

This method has been used and adopted in later research (Krustrup et al., 2003; Mohr et al., 2003; Randers et al., 2010). These studies used the same position and distance from the field for the cameras. They movement patterns were then categorised in locomotive categories in accordance with Bangsbo et al. (1991). The categories were standing (0 km/h), walking (6 km/h, jogging (8 km/h), low-speed running (12 km/h), moderate-speed running (15 km/h), high-speed running (18 km/h), sprinting (30 km/H), and backward running (10 km/h). Thus, the time for the player to pass pre-markers in the grass, the centre circle and other known distances was used to calculate the speed for each activity of locomotion. The above activities were later divided into four locomotor categories: (1) standing; (2) walking; (3) low-intensity running, encompassing jogging, low-speed running and backward running; and (4) high-intensity running, consisting of moderate-speed running, high-speed running and sprinting. The rest is the same as Reilly & Thomas (1976), in terms of spitting activity into blocks, how distance covered each activity and total distance is calculated.

Furthermore, the only advances in this method include better quality cameras and advanced input coding methods due better computer software. The new computer software allows for manual coding which in turn automatically calculates the time spent in each defined movement activity (Carling et al., 2008). These methods have been demonstrated to have high levels of reliability, objectivity, and validity (Carling et al., 2005 cited in Carling et al., 2008). Nevertheless, limitations occur from human error through inaccurate data entry, variable observe reaction to events being performed and different interpretations of performance by different observers, as inter observer consistency is considered crucial in establishing reliability of motion analysis (Barris &

Button, 2008; Bloomfield et al.,2007; Duthie et al., 2003 cited in Barris & Button, 2008). Moreover, this method is restricted to filming and analysis of one single player. They also do not allow for real time analysis and are very labour intensive in terms of capture and analysis of data (Carling et al., 2008). Finally, this type of analysis may be subject to errors due to changes in gait during game movements (Edgecomb & Norton, 2006) and that they only provide low spatial and temporal resolution (Barros et al., 2007).

Semi-automated multi camera tracking systems

Recent technological developments have meant that sophisticated systems, capable of quickly recording and processing the data of all players' physical contributions throughout an entire match, are being used in football (Carling et al., 2008; Randers et al., 2010). These new systems have the ability to analyse all players in a team throughout the whole match, tracking players when they are on and off the ball (Liebermann et al., 2002). In football the two biggest tracking systems are Amisco® (Sport Universal, Nice, France) and ProZone® (West Yorkshire, England).

The multi-player tracking systems such as the ones mentioned above require several cameras fixed at calculated positions to cover the whole pitch. The layout ensures that every player is captured on video, every second of the match. The stadium and pitch are calibrated in terms of height, length and width and transformed into a 2-dimensional model to allow player positions (x, y coordinates) to be calculated. Complex trigonometry, propriety mathematical algorithms, image-object transformation methods for obtaining 2- or 3-dimensional space coordinates such as Direct Linear Transformation from video footage of football play, as well as various

image processing and filtering techniques, can all be used to identify each player's location on the pitch. The individual's movements can then be tracked on the video by computer software through either manual or automatic operation, at every single moment of the game. The technology is facilitated by supportive information such as shirt colour, optical character recognition of shirt numbers and prediction of running patterns to help maintain accurate player identification and tracking (Carling et al., 2008). These systems provide a passive (marker-less) tracking system that measures all moving objects on the football pitch and Sample at between 10 and 25 Hz (dependent on the system), real-time information is provided from the multiple capture systems installed around the stadium (Castellano et al., 2014; Di Salvo et al., 2007; Setterwall, 2003).

The advantages of semi-automatic multi camera tracking system is that they do not require players to carry any electronic transmitting device (Carling et al., 2008). Although, the tracking systems have provided enhanced motion tracking capability some still require significant manual intervention (Barris & Button, 2008). These include experienced analysts are required to code all events, such as, passes, duels, shots fouls, offsides and cautions that occur throughout the game (Castellano et al., 2014; Di Salvo et al., 2007; Setterwall, 2003). Additionally, continual verification by an operator to make sure players are correctly tracked by computer program is needed (Carling et al., 2008). Finally, the biggest disadvantage of semi-automatic multi camera tracking system is the high costs, the necessity of installing multiple cameras and a computerized network with at least one operator to organise date collection and further operator to perform the analysis (Di Salvo et al., 2006).

GPS

The development of GPS technology allows for the activity profile of practice and competition in contact team-sport to be quantified by the tracking of player activity profile (Aughey, 2011; McLellan & Lovell, 2012). GPS technology has had a huge impact on the analysis of performance in elite football, but the original use of GPS technology was designed for military (Randers et al., 2009). Typically, a GPS receiver is placed inside a pouch sewn into a sleeveless under shirt, but some may be different. Larsson et al. (2003), guantified GPS technology requires a receiver to be worn by each athlete, which draws from signals sent from 27 satellites equipped with atomic clocks in orbit of the earth but at least three earth orbiting satellite are needed to determine positional information and calculate movement speeds, distances and pathways. Usually, in football we have seen the use of total distance and high intensity distance (HID) as measure of external load or performance. HID has gained some credibility as a measure of exertion and performance through construct validity when comparing moderate level to elite level players (Mohr, et al., 2003). Although It has also been shown to vary greatly from game to game (Gregson, et al., 2010). Others argue the reason for changes game to game are stimulus driven expenditure determined by factors such as state of play, position and tactics (Impellizzeri, et al., 2005; Rampinini et al., 2007a; Rampinini et al., 2007b). It has been suggested TD and HID maybe valid indicators of load as soccer players will run as far as possible in games.

What makes GPS devices so commonly used is the ability to provide data on work rate characteristics such as total distance and time spent in various movement categories, the latest versions are able to coordinate biofeedback to accompany the traditional physical feedback. With such GPS units as the SPI Elite® capable of
monitoring HR and information frequency and intensity of impacts (Carling et al., 2008). The data relayed has also been shown to be highly accurate and reliable with two previous papers of Coutts & Duffield (2010) and Edgecomb & Norton (2006), both demonstrating accuracy levels of under 5% for error rate in measured distance. Additionally, GPS is time efficient and allows for real time feedback, allowing for greater practicality in team sports (Scott et al., 2016). Although, GPS receivers have been shown to have been accurate and reliable, there are still problems accuracy, as the magnitude of error depends on land configurations and the number of available satellite connections (Carling et al., 2008). Furthermore, they also have some practical limitations such as satellite signals being blocked by the atmosphere and local environmental objects (Larson et al., 2003).

Reliability and Validity of GPS

GPS data have been researched and analysed extensively over the years. Even more so the reliability and validity of the GPS devices has been a topic of interest. Coutts and Duffield (2010) tested the validity of three different 1 Hz GPS devices on two moderately trained males. They completed eight bouts of a standard circuit and each bout consisted of six laps around a marked 128.5m running circuit involving walking, jogging, fast running, sprinting and standing still, to reflect all activity profiles of team sports. One minute was allowed to complete each lap. Each lap was hand timed, and feedback was provided to the participant regarding remaining time before the commencement of the next lap. There was 5–15s recovery between the completion of the circuit and the commencement of the next lap. Although there were significant differences between the three models, all models had an error rate less

than 5% of actual measured distance. This shows all models to have a good level of accuracy. These results of a small error rate were supported by Edgecomb & Norton (2006) who completed validity checks for 59 trials where a player was monitored via a 1Hz GPS and instructed to move around a predetermined marked circuit. The results of a test of accuracy showed a 4.8% error rate in measuring total distance covered and a test of intra-tester reliability reported a technical error of measurement of 5.5%. Future papers that used similar models also agreed with similar results in terms of reliability and validity, but all had the same issue of poor reliability as distance speed increased to the higher threshold speeds (Colino et al., 2019; Coutts & Duffield; Edgecomb & Norton; Felipe et al., 2019; Jennings et al., 2010; Vickery et al., 2014). The poor level of intra-model reliability as running speeds enter the very high intensity speeds is a concern for the 1Hz models as those measures have been seen to be important measures for match running performance (Mohr et al., 2003; Rampinini et al., 2007b). It was proposed that the reason for poor reliability as speeds increased was that the large coefficient of variation (CV) of all models suggest that GPS devices that sample at 1Hz may be unable to detect important changes in running distances at speed >20kmh⁻¹.

Therefore, higher sample rate GPS devices have been developed to counteract this issue, as studies have shown the 5Hz GPS devices to be more reliable and valid than the 1 Hz GPS devices (Duffield et al., 2010; Johnston et al., 2012). 5Hz GPS devices have also been tested intensively and have been found to provide a comparable validity result to 1 Hz GPS devices. In terms of reliability the 5Hz was more accurate and only differed by small amounts (approx. 0–2%) for all courses (Portas et al., 2010). These findings are consistent with the findings by Duffield et al. (2010), who reported that GPS underestimates distance in confined spaces, but that

5Hz was more accurate at higher speeds in small spaces than 1Hz. However, there are still concerns over the accuracy of the moderate distances during high and very high-speed running. A study by Rampinini et al. (2015) found the validity of distance measures for high-speed running were moderate (CV = 7.5%) and worsened greatly during very high-speed running (CV = 23.2%). Although there seem to be similar limitations for the 5Hz as for the 1Hz GPS devices, other research findings allude to a more complicated picture about the accuracy of the 5Hz GPS devices when at High-speed running (Scott et al., 2016).

Recent developments in higher sampling rates of 10 and 15Hz GPS devices have led to examinations if they would be more valid and reliable than 1 and 5Hz GPS devices. Johnston et al. (2014) when testing the reliability and validity of 10 and 15Hz GPS devices found them to be more reliable and valid than 1 and 5Hz GPS devices. This is particularly valuable as the two GPS devices used in this study are 10 and 15Hz. There has been limited research on 10Hz GPS devices, but Vickery et al. (2014) found that measures of distance recorded by a 10Hz GPS unit did not differ significantly to criterion measures during a 40m running. However, distance measures from a 10Hz GPS unit were significantly different from the criterion measure during a shorter running course involving several tight changes of direction. Despite this, Johnston et al. (2014) when using a team sport simulated circuit there was no significant difference between the criterion distance and the total distance reported by a 10Hz GPS unit. Although Vickery et al. (2014) found that the 10Hz GPS devices may provide significantly different results to criterion measure during a tight change of direction course, it would seem that 10Hz GPS devices are able to quantify short to moderate distances (<60m) with higher accuracy when compared with the 1 and 5Hz GPS devices (Scott et al., 2016).

In addition, Rampinini et al. (2015) found that during intermittent shuttle running over moderate distances (70m), measures of total distance and high-speed running distance from a 10Hz GPS device had good accuracy (CV = 1.9% and CV = 4.7%, respectively). However, accuracy worsened and became poor during very highspeed running (CV = 10.5%). Although, this is significantly better CV compared to the 5Hz GPS device in the same study for high-speed running. Moreover, 10Hz GPs unit have been shown to have good interunit reliability, with CV being 1.3% and 0.7 when measuring sprints of 15m and 30m, respectively (Castellano et al., 2011). Conversely, it had been suggested that during high-speed running 10Hz GPS devices would ben unadvisable, although all other interunit reliability measures are good, therefore it is suggested to use caution when comparing and interpreting high speed running between devices (Scott et al., 2016).

The research on 15Hz GPS devices is more limited as its development as only come of recent. It is important to know that higher frequency actually sample at lower frequency and then use interpolation from tri-axial accelerometer to increase sample frequency. For example, 15 z GPS device (SPI HPU, GPSports, Canberra, Australia) collects data at 5Hz then uses the accelerometer to interpolate that frequency to 15Hz (Tessaro, 2017). From the limited research it was found that during a running shuttle protocol designed to recreate football movements both linear and curvilinear distance was significantly different from criterion measures (Rawstorn et al., 2014). In support of this Vickery et al. (2014), found that 15Hz GPS devices differed significantly on distance measurements to criterion measures during a gradual change of direction course. However, during a multidirectional 10s bout of team sport movements 15Hz GPS devices did not differ significantly to criterion measures.

Furthermore, Vickery et al. (2014) found that 15Hz GPS devices were not significantly different from criterion measures during short high-intensity linear-based running. Likewise, Johnston et al. (2014) found no significant difference between the criterion distance and the total distance reported during a team sport simulated circuit. To assess the validity and reliability of a GPS device, Barr et al. (2019), carried out a series of cohort experiments where the key finding was that the GPS device was accurate in measuring linear high velocity sprinting in football players. Additionally, the study found inter-unit reliability was found to be for peak velocity (1.0%) total distance (1.4%), walking distance (3.2%), sprinting distance (4.8%) and jogging distance (7.8%) which are all in the acceptable limits. Johnston et al. (2014) who used the similar type of device in his study, found all results to be similar except for a lower reliability for peak velocity (8.1%) compared to Barr et al. (2019). This may have been due to Johnston et al. (2014) using less devices or there being further updates (Barr et al., 2019). The validity and reliability of this GPS device is further supported by Williams & Tessaro et al. (2018) who found the Rate of mean square to be $\pm 2\%$. For GPS systems and other technical devices used during exercise, measures of validity (i.e., error values) less than 5% are considered good (Scott et al., 2016). There have not been many studies on the reliability of this device but the studies that have been completed show that the device has relatively valid reliable in different situation with a low error value.

As stated above higher Hz GPS devices use accelerometer to increase to a higher frequency to get more reliable data. This is due the accuracy of GPS is limited by the high dynamics of sports. Such quick changes of satellite constellation the render the carrier-phase ambiguity resolution difficult or even impossible. Thus, to overcome this and to be able to observe reliable accelerations and oritentaions, inertial and

megentic sensors are integrated with GPS (Waegli et al., 2007). For GPS that is worn on the body micro electro mechanical systems (MEMS) are used due to the small size, low cost and power consumption (Frosio et al., 2009; Waegli et al.,2007). MEMS accelerometers are integrated with gyroscopes or detailed models of the moving body and their output has to be integrated over time (Frosio et al., 2009). If the devices are using MEMS accelerometer to produce data at higher frequency does that not make the devices MEMS devices as that is what is producing the data.

The literature suggest all GPS devices are capable of tracking athlete distances and have acceptable interunit reliability, no matter the sampling rate. However, all the different sampling frequencies have some limitations. At this moment 10Hz GPS devices would be the optimal as it mitigates the limitations the most. It overcomes the limitation of validity of the seen in 1 and 5Hz GPS devices. The 15Hz GPS devices have shown equal benefit to the 10Hz, although need more research to confirm the reliability and validity, since very little research has been done so far (Scott et al., 2016). What was also concluded was that if an accelerometer is used in the device, it is a MEMS devices not a GPS.

GPS in making activity profiles

A great benefit of GPS devices for a sport such as football is that it allows for activity profiles to be created for individual players, positions and whole teams. This is normally characterised by using high-intensity activity (sprinting, running, kicking, jumping, and tackling), interspersed with lower intensity actions (jogging and walking) and active or passive recovery as a marker (Bloomfield et al., 2004). This allows an evaluation of performance from the frequency of each type of movement and time spent or distance run in each movement (Carling et al., 2008). Over the

years numerous time motion analysis and GPS analysis have been used to determine the physical profile of football players (Casamichana et al., 2012; Di Salvo et al., 2007; Mohr et al., 2003; Krustrup et al., 2003; Krustrup et al., 2005; Suarez-Arrones et al., 2014).

The introduction of GPS looks set to increase our knowledge by revealing how players physical profiles evolves with age, how it varies according to position, how it varies across whole seasons and between competitive versus training contexts (Buchheit et al., 2010; Casamichana et al., 2012; Malone et al., 2015; Mendez-Villanueva et al., 2013; Ritchie et al., 2016). From the research it is understood that a typical total distance covered during a match is 10 – 13km most of this distance is covered by walking and low-intensity running, hence making the high-intensity exercise periods important in terms of energy production (Bangsbo et al., 2006). Bangsbo et al. (2006) further stated that the amount of high-intensity exercise separates top-class players from players of a lower standard. A study by Mohr et al (2003), supported this when demonstrating that international players performed 28% more (P < 0.05) high intensity running (2.43 vs. 1.90km) and 58% more sprinting (650 vs. 410 m) than professional players of a lower standard. Thus, it has been suggested that the amount of high intensity exercise is a valid measure of physical performance in football (Krustrup et al., 2005; Mohr et al., 2003; Mohr et al., 2005). Another important fact of activity profiles is allowing understanding of workload imposed on certain positions during matches to be able to develop sport specific training protocol (Di Salvo et al., 2007). Therefore, it has been generally recognised that midfielders cover greater distances in a game than defenders and forwards (Di Salvo et al., 2007; Mohr et al., 2003; Suarez-Arrones et al., 2014). Nevertheless, it should be accounted that for each playing positions there can be variation on

physical activity profile, depending on tactical role and the physical capacity of the player (Carling et al., 2008).

Knowing theses activity profiles, it is of interest if these profiles would be affected by congestion. In a study, Odetoyinbo et al. (2008) examined the effect of a succession of matches on the activity profiles of professional football players when three matches were played in five days. Their findings suggested that the activity profiles were not influenced by the short recovery periods between matches, while some fatigue may be apparent that affects certain high-intensity aspects of play. This finding was supported by Rey et al. (2010), who also found the activity profiles of elite Spanish football players who played two matches in five days. These previous papers were limited in that they only looked at the effect of congestion on one period. Djaoui et al. (2014), on the other hand analysed 4 successive congested periods (2 matches per week) separated by periods of international truce and normal one-game per week microcycles over a 5-month period. The congested periods were then compared to the non-congested periods, where the main finding was that no significant differences between congested and non-congested periods were observed in distances covered at the running intensities over 18 km/h for all playing positions. Varley et al., (2018) also agreed with previous research but suggests that individuals will respond differently and individual monitoring is required.

In contrast to previous research, Kovacs et al. (2020) found elite youth football players produced low physical performance outputs during a fixture congestion across 3 matches. Although compared to the previous research the players had 72h of recovery between matches which they did not in Kovacs et al. (2020) thus, not

allowing sufficient recovery for players to maintain physical performance outputs. Furthermore jones et al. (2018) reported a small but significant effect within match patterns of total distance, low intensity distance, and sprint distance across the FCSen. The three FCSen were groups according to the number of days between successive matches. The first group comprised of players completing a single match performed in a weekly microcycle with no additional match performed within four days of this match. The second group encompassed data from the second match of a two match weekly micro cycle whereby two matches are performed with less than 4 days between matches. The third group used data from the third match of a threegame weekly mircocycle where matches were performed with less than 4 days between each match. Moreover, a major difference from the two studies that found differences in performance when there were congested periods, were the ones that used GPS to monitor performance whereas other used camera tracking systems. This was likely due to the rules of GPS technology being approved for use in competition only being approved in 2015 (FIFA, 2015). Therefore, such differences between video tracking systems and GPS systems could be one reason for the difference in findings.

COVID and impact of demands in football

The previous football season was affected by COVID-19, which affected different leagues in different ways. Some were ended prior to full conclusion of season; others were postponed and re started in a condensed manner. However, when the 2019/20 season ended all that was assured was that the 2020/21 season would be condensed more than ever before, so that footballing season could restore to their

normal ways from the 2021/22 season. This meant there would not just be congested periods in the 2020/21 season but the whole season would face congestion. For the purpose of this study, the team analysed were in the English football league one and due to the effect of COVID-19, it Condensed the 2020/21 down to 35 weeks compared to 39 weeks in 2018/19 season which was the last full season. In football terms 4 weeks could mean an extra 8 matches being spaced into those weeks but instead would be condensed down. Additionally, in the 35 weeks the club would need to complete all competitive league and cup matches. In total they played 55 matches in 35weeks, compared to 55 matches in 39 weeks in the 2018/19 season. This meant the season would have more matches packed together, with a match played every 3-4 days. This would cause more strain and load on the players having to play the same number of matches in a shorter period, hence the importance of GPS monitoring became a bigger factor this season. In a normal season there is 6 days between matches with a few 3 - 4 days sporadically throughout the season. To make sure players were not over overworked and injuries were kept to a minimum. GPS would allow players to be monitored in matches and training to see if there any differences in their activity levels, so that adjustments could be made.

Although there has been quantification of load across whole seasons using GPS (Anderson et al., 2016; Malone et al., 2015; Ritchie et al., 2016) there hasn't been any over a congested whole season only over congested periods (Jones et al., 2018; Kovacs et al., 2020). Thus, this study looks to investigate the effect of a congested season on the activity of professional football players. As most previous studies when looking at congestion have only looked at small sample sizes and not as a whole season. Furthermore, there has not been this congestion of a whole season

due to the COVID-19 pandemic. So, to our knowledge there has not been a study to investigate the effect of COVID-19 and the subsequent congestion that was caused the following season after that. Therefore, this present study will look to follow on from the work of Jones et al. (2018) and Kovacs et al. (2020) which used GPS as a way of analysing the effect of congestion on football players and to determine if there is an effect as suggested by the studies. This study will also use similar methods to Djaoui et al. (2014) by using separate periods of the season and comparing those periods with previous years to see if there has been any significant difference in each period and as whole season.

Research aims

Thus, the purpose of this study is to ascertain whether there has been an effect of a congested season on the activity of professional football players. Using a specific protocol that allows comparisons to be made with previous seasons to see if there have been any significant differences. This allowing us to answer the specific research aims to determine whether there is an effect on elite football players match activity due to a more congested season compared to previous seasons. Therefore, we will determine:

- 1. If there has been a greater total distance (TD) and high-speed distance (HSD) placed on the players in the congested season compared to previous
- If there are any significant differences in individual positions match activity in the congested season compared to previous
- 3. If there has been an increase in the frequency of injuries in the congested season compared to previous.

CHAPTER III: METHODS

Activity pattern measurements

The validity and reliability of GPS system have been previously reported (Coutts & Duffield, 2010; Varley et al., 2012). GPS technology requires a receiver to be worn by each athlete, which draws from signals sent from 27 satellites equipped with atomic clocks in orbit of the earth but at least three earth orbiting satellite are needed to determine positional information and calculate movement speeds, distances and pathways (Larsson et al., 2003). But due to units including an accelerometer they will be referred to as MEMS, as previously stated before. Participants wore a MEMS unit (SPI HPU, GPSports, 15Hz, Canberra, Australia) for the 2018/19 and 2019/20 seasons. For the 2020/21 season players wore (Playertek, Catapult, 10Hz, Leeds, UK). The accelerometer for each GPS unit is 100 and 400Hz, respectively. Two metrics have been identified for use in this present study TD; HSD which is the amount distance time spent at or greater than 18kph, as from he data stored from all three years include HSD and TD.

Participants

Participants will be from anonymised Global Positioning system (GPS) data provided by a team in the English Football League One Ethical approval was giving by the research ethics and advisory group at the University of Kent (Ethics Reference: 12_20_21). The data only included past MEMS data from competitive matches played by chosen team First Team players. The players included would have competed in from either 2018/19, 2019/20 or 2020/21 seasons. For the purpose of

this study for player to be included in an evaluation of a match, the MEMS data must represent at least half of highest output for the metric during that match (i.e., the highest reading for total distance were 15000m, for a player to also be used they must have attained 7500m). The study included 65 players in total who met the above criteria (see table 3.1 for the breakdown of number of players).

Position	Overall Number of players	TD total number of players	HSD total number of players
DEF 2020/21	8	8	8
MID 2020/21	10	10	10
ATT 2020/21	7	7	7
Total 2020/21	25	25	25
DEF 2019/20	6	6	6
MID 2019/20	8	8	7
ATT 2019/20	8	8	7
Total 2019/20	22	22	20
DEF 2018/19	5	5	5
MID 2018/19	9	9	9

TABLE 3.1. Breakdown of number of players in each position

ATT 2018/19	4	4	4
Total 2018/19	18	18	18

Note abbreviations in the table are as follows total distance (TD) and high-speed distance (HSD)

Periodic analysis of MEMS data

This study used a data analysis method to look at 3 different periods of this season and compare those same periods with previous seasons. The first period evaluated were September as that is the first full month of a season. The next period was between December and the first week of January. This period is notoriously busy and will be a good indicator for any changes in activity profiles. The last period will be the 7th February – 7th March. This is due to this being the last month of the 2019/20 season due to COVID-19 Pandemic which cut the season short. Therefore, the last month where all three seasons can be compared at similar period. The metrics to be looked at include HSD, TD. Each period from one season was compared its counterpart from a different season, using the metrics provided by the MEMS data.

The justification for the periodic analysis of the MEMS data was due to there being a change in research question. Has the initial researched required access to first team players, so data could be collected throughout the season but due to COVID 19 contact with first team players was not possible. Therefore, the research was changed and historical first team data was used for the research. Due to the time contrariant with the change in research and that there were missing data sets, the

best possible way to conduct the research was using 3 different periods across the season as described above and not all matches of the seasons.

Injury data

Injury data from the 2020/21 and 2019/20 was used to analyse if there has been an increased frequency for injuries. This will analyse the number of days missed and matches missed due to injury. However, as both seasons played a varied number of matches 55 for 2020/21 and 43 in 2019/20, the days missed and matches missed will be divided by the number of matches played to get a rate of days or matches missed per injury.

<u>Analysis</u>

Statistical test was performed in SPSS using a (IBM, New York, USA). A one way ANOVA will be performed on all the metrics for each individual period, the totals across the season (Totals are given has the mean values when each participant values for each period are added together, for that season), each period for positions and totals across the season for positions (Totals are given has the mean values when each participant values that play that particular position for each period are added together for that season). The key variables to be analysed were TD and HSD. Injury data was reported as descriptive.

Chapter IV: RESULTS

Differences in periods

For TD in periods 1 and 2 there were no significant difference between 2020/21 and 2019/20 (P= 0.64; P= 0.94, respectively). During period 3 again there was no significant difference between 2020/21 and 2019/20 (P= 1.00) but there was a significant difference in the 2018/19 season with the 2020/21 season (P <0.01) and the 2019/20 season (P= 0.02). See table 4.1 and Fig 4.1.

For HSD in periods 1 and 2 there were no significant difference between 2020/21 and 2019/20 (P= 0.08; P= 0.89, respectively). During period 3 again there was no significant difference between 2020/21 and 2019/20 (P= 0.09). This was the same for between 2018/19 and 2019/20 (P= 1.00) but there was a significant difference in the 2018/19 season with the 2020/21 season (P <0.01). See table 4.2 and Fig 4.1

Differences across the whole season

As a whole season across all three periods there was no significant differences for TD or HSD between 2020/21 and 2019/20 season (P = 0.88 and P = 0.28, respectively). Although 2020/21 was higher than 2019/20 in both instances, see table 4.1 and 4.2.

Variable		Period		Total
	1	2	3	=
Total distance 2020/21(m)	11852 ± 1600 (19)	12058 ± 1706 (19)	11021 ± 1753* (15)	24784 ± 10111 (25)
Total distance 2019/20 (m)	11621 ± 1368 (18)	12006 ± 2217 (13)	10557 ± 1641 [#] (16)	24280 ± 11860 (22)
Total distance 2018/19 (m)			8304 ± 1849* [#] (18)	

Table 4.1. Differences in Total distance over the three periods and in total

Values are mean \pm SD. * denotes significant difference between 2020/21 and 2018/19 in the same period. # Denotes significant difference between 2019/20 and 2018/19for in the same period. () denotes number of participants.

Table 4.2. Differences in High-speed distance over the three periods and in total				
Variable	Period			Total
	1	2	3	
High speed distance 2020/21 (m)	1015.41 ± 195.52 (19)	942.62 ± 233.95 (19)	944.40 ± 222.59* (15)	2055 ± 905 (25)
High speed distance 2019/20 (m)	890.90 ± 216.39 (18)	926.98 ± 283.07 (13)	766.31 ± 191.86 (15)	1885 ± 890 (21)
High speed distance 2018/19 (m)			737.04 ± 228.17* (18)	

Values are mean ± SD. * Denotes significant difference between 2020/21 and 2018/19 in the same period. () denotes number of participants.



Fig 1. Mean \pm SD showing (A) TD and (B) HSD. * Indicates significant difference between the years for that period.

Differences between the same positions

There were no significant differences for TD between 2020/21 and 2019/20 seasons for any of the same positions in period 1 (DEF P= 1.00; MID P= 1.00; ATT P= 1.00) and 2 (DEF P= 1.00; MID P= 1.00; ATT P= 1.00). In period 3 there was a significant difference in MID between 2020/21 and 2018/19 (P= 0.02), all other positions were not significant different when compared with similar positions in different seasons. See table 4.3 and fig 4.2.

There were no significant differences for HSD between 2020/21 and 2019/20 seasons for any of the same positions in period 1 (DEF P= 1.00; MID P= 1.00; ATT P= 1.00) and 2 (DEF P= 1.00; MID P= 1.00; ATT P= 1.00). In period 3 all positions were not significant different when compared with similar positions in different seasons. See table 4.4 and fig 4.2.

There were no significant differences when looking at all three periods as a whole season positional metrics between the 2020/21 and 2019/20 seasons. For TD and HSD when comparing the same position total between the two seasons all values were P= 1.00 (see table 4.3 and 4.4).

Position	Total Distance in each Period (m)			Total (m)
	1	2	3	
DEF 2020/21	12294 ± 595 (6)	12610 ± 744 (6)	11379 ± 1835 (5)	25790 ± 12000 (8)
MID 2020/21	12556 ± 1376 (7)	11828 ± 2297 (7)	11674 ± 1568 (5)*	22906 ± 8767 (10)
ATT 2020/21	10587 ± 1933 (6)	11775 ± 1749 (6)	10011 ± 1722 (5)	26319 ± 10756 (7)
DEF 2019/20	12002 ± 1404 (6)	12502 ± 661 (5)	11677 ± 437 (5)	32151 ± 9075 (6)
MID 2019/20	12035 ± 1473 (7)	13280 ± 2919 (4)	9827 ± 2081 (6)	24541 ± 12337 (8)
ATT 2019/20	10584 ± 611 (5)	12037 ± 1895 (4)	10313 ± 1431 (5)	24549 ± 10845 (8)
DEF 2018/19			9120 ± 225 (5)	()
MID 2018/19			7476 ± 1970 (9)*	
ATT 2018/19			9148 ± 2199 (4)	

Table 4.3. Differences Total distance for different positions for each period and in total.

Values are mean \pm SD. () Denotes number of players used for that period in that position. * Denotes significant difference between 2020/21 and 2018/19 when comparing the same position in the same period. Note no significant difference between 2020/21 and 2019/20 for same position when compared with a different season in any period and as a whole across the three periods.

Table 4.4. Difference	es migh speed distant	se for unreferit positio	ns for each period and	
Position		Period		Total
	1	2	3	
DEF 2020/21	950.86 ± 157.89	927.81 ± 177.85	793.37 ± 171.41	1904.86 ±
	(6)	(6)	(5)	1007.20 (8)
MID 2020/21	1082.29 ± 231.05	935.98 ± 321.01	1087.53 ± 241.83	1956.57 ±
	(7)	(7)	(5)	857.60 (10)
ATT 2020/21	1001.91 ± 192.75	965.16 ± 202.00	952.30 ± 172.62	2366.27 ±
	(6)	(6)	(5)	912.06 (7)
DEF 2019/20	838.67 ± 286.44	863.53 ± 153.046	685.85 ± 133.49	2128.82 ±
	(6)	(5)	(5)	542.15 (6)
MID 2019/20	926.15 ± 202.50	1178.28 ± 172.43	756.30 ± 193.39	1966.74 ±
	(7)	(4)	(6)	1091.46 (7)
ATT 2019/20	904.22 ± 168.68	755.00 ± 359.44	881.89 ± 238.50	1581.23 ±
	(5)	(4)	(4)	909.65 (7)
DEF 2018/19			626.45 ± 135.39	
			(5)	
MID 2018/19			721.09 ± 243.50	
			(9)	
ATT 2018/19			911.18 ± 225.59	
			(4)	

Table 4.4. Differences High speed distance for different positions for each period and in total.

Values are mean \pm SD. () Denotes number of players used for that period in that position. Note no significant difference between any of the seasons for all positions when compared with similar positions in different seasons for any period or as a whole across the three periods.



Fig 2. Values are mean ± SD showing (A) TD and (B) HSD. * denotes significant difference between 2020/21 and 2018/19 for same position in the same period.

Differences in Injuries

There was a higher rate of days missed of 5.19 in 2020/21 than 2019/20, thus showing a longer number of days missed per injury. This was similar for rate of games missed, where 2020/21 was higher than 2019/20 by 0.96, therefore almost an extra game was missed per injury in 2020/21 (see table 4.5).

Table 4.5. Difference	es in injuries			
Injury year (Number of games played)	Days missed	Rate of days missed (rate = days missed/ number of game)	Games missed	Rate of games missed (rate = games missed/ number of game)
2020/21 (55)	746	13.56	156	2.84
2019/20 (43)	360	8.37	81	1.88

Chapter V: DISCUSSIONS

This study demonstrates that there was no significant difference for TD and HSD between the seasons, during the selected periods of the season or as a whole season across all three periods. This was similar when comparing the positions across different seasons. Where between the same positions in different seasons generally there was no significant distance for TD and HSD, during the periods or as a whole season across all three periods. This study therefore suggests that a congested season will have no significant impact on the players. On the other hand, there was an increase in the frequency of injuries from the 2020/21 season compared to the 2019/20 season. There was an increased number of days missed per injury and an extra match missed per injury in the congested season compared with the non congested season.

Congested match periods occur frequently in elite football (Dupont et al., 2010). Although congested match periods occur there has not been a congested season comparable the 2020/21 season before. Therefore, comparing to studies that have researched congested periods, would be the most effective in seeing if the results from those studies are comparable to the results of this current study. The results of the TD and HSD in this study are in line with those of Djaoui et al. (2014); Odetoyinbo et al. (2008); Rey et al. (2010); Varley et al. (2018), that they were largely unaffected by the congested season compared to different seasons. The present study did not show significant variation between any of periods or as a whole season across the three periods for TD apart for period three (See table 4.1 and fig

4.1). Where the 2018/19 season was significantly different to the 2020/21 (P < 0.01) and 2019/20 (P= 0.02) season in period 3. Although the significant difference may only come due that in the 2018/19 season in period three only five matches were played, compared to 7 matches played in the other two seasons in the same period. In contrast to previous studies and this current study, Kovacs et al. (2020) found elite youth football players produced low physical performance outputs during a fixture congestion across 3 matches. Although compared to the previous research the players had 72h of recovery between matches which they did not in Kovacs et al. (2020) thus, not allowing sufficient recovery for players to maintain physical performance outputs. In addition, Jones et al. (2018) reported a small but significant effect of within match patterns of total distance, low intensity distance, and sprint distance across the FCSen. The three FCSen were groups according to the number of days between successive matches. The first group comprised of players completing a single match performed in a weekly microcycle with no additional match performed within four days of this match. The second group encompassed data from the second match of a two match weekly micro cycle whereby two matches are performed with less than 4 days between matches. The third group used data from the third match of a three-game weekly mircocycle where matches were performed with less than 4 days between each match. However, Jones et al. (2018) was only able to find the small differences in TD as the results were looked at in 15 min epochs and not in halves or full match as previous studies have.

The results of HSD in this study were a parallel to that of TD. The present study did not show significant variation between any of periods or as a whole season across the three periods for HSD apart for period three (See table 4.2 and fig 4.1). Where

the 2018/19 season was significantly different to the 2020/21 season (P < 0.01), again this is likely to be because of the disparity in the number of matches as mentioned before. Although, 2020/21 HSD had the fewer matches than 2018/19 HSD the mean in period 3 was higher for 2020/21 (see fig.1 and table 4.2.). This could be due to that performance during match-play is related to the physical activity completed by the opponent teams as well as their competitive level, (Rampinini et al., 2007b), high-speed activity completed by players during match-play is highly variable between matches. The observation that this variability is affected by factors such as playing position and having possession of the ball (Gregson et al., 2010) are all factors that could affect the variation HID. However, as a whole HSD was largely unaffected by the congested season. HSD being unaffected by congestion is common is previous studies as it is in this present study (Carling et al., 2012; Djaoui et al., 2014; Kovacs et al., 2020; Odetoyinbo et al., 2008; Rey et al., 2010; Varley et al., 2018). Djaoui et al. (2014) suggested that the above results may be achieved by implementation of light technical sessions along with fitness training sessions mainly developing: prevention agility and short sprinting training. Additionally, the strategy of rotation of players', the different tactics used in matches and the training in-between matches (essentially tactical and small-sided games) could also be an explanation of the observed results (Carling et al., 2012; Djaoui et al., 2014). The mentioned strategies were used by the team in this current study, as there key to maintain performance was using the amount of HSD covered to similar levels every week by maintain the 'sweet spot' in the acute:chronic workload ratio. The acute:chronic workload ratio was developed by Gabbert (2016), where acute TL accounted for one week training and represented analogous to state of fatigue, whist chronic training accounted for the rolling average for the most recent 3 – 6 weeks of training and

represented an analogous to a state of fitness. By comparing the two it provides an index of athlete's preparedness. Furthermore, Gabbert (2016) concluded in terms of injury risk that a ratio of 0.8 - 1.3 could be considered the training 'sweet spot' and anything \geq 1.5 would be in the danger zone for injury. Hence this theory would be applied by manipulating training sessions to make sure acute:chronic workload ratio was maintained at the 'sweet spot' so the athletes were as prepared as they could be for the match and if they were outside the 'sweet spot' would be able to give advice accordingly.

A great benefit of GPS devices for a sport such as football is that it allows for activity profiles to be created for individual players, positions and whole teams. Over the years numerous time motion analysis and GPS analysis have been used to determine the physical profile of football players (Casamichana et al., 2012; Di Salvo et al., 2007; Mohr et al., 2003; Krustrup et al., 2003; Krustrup et al., 2005; Suarez-Arrones et al., 2014). From the research it is understood that a typical total distance covered during a match is 10 – 13km most of this distance is covered by walking and low-intensity running, hence making the high-intensity exercise periods important in terms of energy production. Thus, the amount of high-intensity exercise separates top-class players from players of a lower standard (Bangsbo et al., 2006). Additionally, an important fact of activity profiles is allowing understanding of workload imposed on certain positions during matches to be able to develop sport specific training protocol (Di Salvo et al., 2007). Therefore, it has been generally recognised that midfielders cover greater distances in a game than defenders and forwards (Di Salvo et al., 2007; Mohr et al., 2003; Suarez-Arrones et al., 2014).

The present study did not show significant variation between any of the same position for any periods or as a whole season across the three periods for TD apart for MID in period three (See table 4.3 and fig 4.2). Where the MID 2018/19 was significantly different to the MID 2020/21 (P = 0.02). Furthermore, you would expect MID 2018/19 to have the greater mean due to having played fewer matches in period three and with more players (9 players) in that period compared to the MID 2020/21 (5 players). However, it was the MID 2020/21 that had the higher mean than MID 2018/19 (11674 \pm 1568m and 7476 \pm 1970m, respectively). The differences in most cases are likely due with the specific tactical roles in the playing formation (Djaoui et al., 2014). For example, the MID 2018/19 might have been more defensive minded and ridged so not much running outside of the roles whist in the MID 2020/21 may have had more license to roam and get more forward, thus more distance covered. Nevertheless, the results showed that in general the same positions were not affected by a congested season

The previous research had suggested that the greatest volume of work at high intensity is carried out by attacking players (Mohr et al., 2003). Therefore, it could be assumed if these attacking players were to have a more congested season and they produces the greatest volume of at high intensity. That the work would decrease as has they wouldn't have enough recovery to keep producing those high volumes. However, this was not the case in this study as there was no significant difference in the attack or any of the same position for any period or as a whole season across the three periods (See table 4.4 and fig 4.2). Once again, agreeing with the common notion that HSD is not affected by congestion as none of the same positions were different.

In this present study, there was a difference in the amount games and days missed due to injuries. There were 746 days missed in 2020/21 season which had 55 matches compared to 360 days missed in 2019/20 season which had 43 matches before COVID19 stopped the season. There was a higher rate of days missed of 5 days per injury in 2020/21 than 2019/20 season, thus showing a longer number of days missed per injury (see table 4.5). An extra 5 days injured can have huge difference in the number of matches missed and that there were likely more muscle injuries due to the longer length of injuries. In terms of matches missed due to injury there were 156 matches missed in the 2020/21 season compared to 81 in the 2019/20 seasons. There was almost a rate of an extra game missed per injury in the 2020/21 season than 2019/20. These results are in line with Dupont et al. (2010) where a sporadic fixture congestion was associated with significantly higher incidences of injury. Although more research is needed in terms of the specific type of injuries, to give a more concise look on if it's associated with congestion or not.

A metric that was not used during this study, that may have made a difference to the outcome of this study was Body Load (BL). The reasoning behind the exclusion of BL was due to the football club changing MEMS units during the period analysed. Therefore, how BL would be calculated from the two MEMS units would be different and couldn't be compared to each other. Although this exclusion may have made a difference to the results of this study as Zanetti et al. (2018) investigated two elite youth football teams during an international tournament, where they were required to play in a congested period 5 matches over 3 days. These matches were compared with 5 matches of the two teams that were not congested. The comparison observed higher values for metabolic power (which has been suggested as a reliable marker of

locomotor load where acceleration- and velocity-based running are accounted for (Rampinini et al., 2015), suggested that players were able to maintain the load they produced more during the congested period than the non-congested period. The findings of Zanetti et al. (2018) disagree with the research of Kovacs et al. (2020). Kovacs et al. (2020) found elite youth football players produced lower physical performance outputs (total distance, Low speed running distance and body load) during a fixture congestion across 3 matches in 3 days. Although Zanetti et al. (2018) had a greater match play physical demand than Kovacs et al. (2020) they were very similar in style of a tournament. The difference in the findings may be due to Zanetti et al. (2018) focusing on two teams from single club whereas Kovacs et al. (2020) quantified his performance output across all teams playing in the tournament. Furthermore, focusing on one team as in the study by Zanetti et al. (2018), the players' response to match activity profiles in the congested schedule could be due to pacing strategy, (consciously or subconsciously) to be able to maintain physical effort (Carling et al., 2012). Using the same strategy will be more consistent in one club than will be from multiple clubs at different levels.

The level of opponents may affect the amount of BL faced in a particular match. Playing against a higher-level team may increase competitiveness and motivation to apply more work in a particular match thus increasing BL and playing against a lower-level team may have the opposite effect (Zanetti et al., 2018). Thus, this may be truer when playing in an international tournament where all the competition is high, as was the case in Zanetti et al. (2018). When playing in a league it is more of a balance as there will be teams the same level, higher level and lower level. Therefore, throughout a league season the BL needs to be maintained for every game despite the level of competition. To hopefully maintain a high level of

performance throughout the season. This could be achieved my monitoring and programming performance in training to mimic match conditions. Moreover, with more games closely together it could be assumed the load would be increased. Seemingly if this was the case, it would have an effect of the results of the study.

Limitations/Future research

There are a few limitations with this present study that need to be discussed and acted upon if future research is to happen. From this study were missing data that could have altered the results of the study. This would therefore change how the results would be interpreted and the findings of the current study may be different if access to full data sets. For example, TD was used as to evaluate which players would be included in study for each match. However, for the 2018/19 the data was missing for TD until 29th January, meaning only the last period analysed could be used for that season. Meaning comparison from the other two periods could not be made with the different years and the total for that season could not be used. The extra information that could have been provided by the missing data could have been very useful in further reiterating the results of this study or may have changed the results of the study. Therefore, if this study was to be repeated full data sets must be accessible, so that a better understanding of the results can be achieved when compared more to a season that was a full normal season.

In research of the current study is that there was no access to more metrics that were used across all three seasons. Although the metrics used were key metrics, it would have been interesting to use some more, especially BL, acceleration and deceleration. As they have been studied in many previous studies, therefore would

have made good comparisons for this present study. The addition of more metrics would have been useful in confirming the results of this study or bringing about different or new interpretation of this present study. For instance, if more acceleration and deceleration were completed in the congested season it would further suggest that load was increased by congestion. Thus, in future studies more metrics should be used to allow for a more in depth look at the results of the study.

Furthermore, there is no indication of where the team was positioned in the league from the data analysed or the level competition faced. For example, the team may have been middle table near the end of the season and had nothing much to play for or playing the top teams of the league so needing to put more effort in the matches. Hence both could have affected the results in some way. Rampinini et al. (2007b) demonstrated that performance during match-play is related to the physical activity completed by the opponent teams as well as their competitive level, and this should be taken into account especially when evaluating the effects of training intervention on match running performance. Furthermore, Zanetti et al. (2018) stated there is possible influence of the quality of the opponent on their findings on running performance. That the higher-level opponents in the congested period compared to the non-congested period cannot be ruled out as a possible contextual factor that potentially impacted performance. Therefore, if the research was completed again, the teams faced and position in the league during the periods should be contextualised to give an understanding of where the team is at and team faced are at.

Additionally, in the present study is there was no input of recover strategies between the matches. Although there was mention of trying to maintain acute:chronic work ratio, there was no mention of any specific strategies that was used between the

matches to help keep players optimum or prevent injury. For example, as there was an increase in frequency of injuries, without any knowledge of recover strategy in between the matches, there is no assumptions the increased injuries are not due to the type of recovery and training occurring in between the matches. Moreover, Carling et al. (2012) showed that injury rates are unaffected by fixture congestion when there is an effective recovery strategy in place. Therefore, future research should look to include a recovery strategy for in between matches to mitigate injuries occurring due to the work done in between matches. Although it must be taken into consideration that it would be difficult to get a professional team to implement a recovery strategy if they do not already have one if so, it may be a better choice to select a team that already has recovery strategies in place.

In the current study there not being more information on the injury data, limited the amount of analysis that could have been completed on the injury data, therefore gaining a better understanding on how injury was affected in the congested season compared to the other season. This included the specific types of injuries not being noted down correctly and not having access to individual injury reports. Thus, having greater access to the injury reports and history is vital for future studies, to allow a better understanding of how congestion affects injuries. The types of injuries from contact to non contact, would give a better understanding of if the injuries were more associated with the fixture congestion or not. For example, Carling et al. (2012) was able to conclude that the injuries in that study were due to match play with an opponent as they had access to whether the injuries were contact or non-contact. Furthermore, having the information on contact or noncontact injuries would be useful to be able to link injuries with the load from the congested season. For example, If there had been more non-contact injuries in the congested season.

compared to the non congested season, an assumption could be made that the cause would be due to the increased load.

Conclusions

In conclusion, there was no affect for TD or HSD, and this is in line with previous research. Furthermore, the study showed that there was again no significant difference for TD and HSD, between the same positions in the different seasons. Finally, the injury rates demonstrated that there was an increase in the number of days and matches missed from injuries in the congested 2020/21 season than the 2019/20 season. Considering the research hypothesis, this current study in part disagrees with the hypothesis that there was a greater load placed on the players, as the metrics TD and HSD were not affected. Although, the greater load was supported by the increase in the rate of days and matches missed per injury. This may have been strengthened if other metrics such as BL were measured during the study. Therefore, the current study can only suggest that there is no significant difference the activity profiles of football players as TD and HSD are not affected by congestion of a whole season. Thus, more research is needed to evaluate the outcomes of this study as it is the first to examine the effect of a congested season on football players.

REFERENCES

Akubat, I. & Van Winckel, J. (2014). Training load monitoring in soccer. In

J. Van Winckel, D. Tenney, W. Helsen, K. McMillan, J.P. Meert and P. Bradley, P. *Fitness in Soccer: The Science and Practical Application* (pp. 167-184). Leuven: Moveo Ergo Sum

Akubat, I. (2012). *Training load monitoring in soccer: The dose-response relationships with fitness, recovery and fatigue,* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Hull)

Ali, A. & Farrally, M. (1991). Recording soccer players' heart rates during matches. *Journal of sports sciences, 9*, 183-189.

Anderson, L., Orme, P., Di Michele, R., Close, G.L., Milsom, J., Morgans, R., Drust, B. & Morton, J.P. (2016). Quantification of seasonal-long physical load in soccer players with different starting status from the English Premier League: Implications for maintaining squad physical fitness. *International journal of sports physiology and performance, 11*, 1038-1046.

Andrews, M.C. & Itsiopoulos, C. (2016). Room for improvement in nutrition knowledge and dietary intake of male football (soccer) players in Australia. *International Journal of Sport Nutrition and Exercise Metabolism, 26*⁽¹⁾, 55-64. Andrzejewski, M., Chmura, J., Pluta, B., Strzelczyk, R. & Kasprzak, A. (2013). Analysis of sprinting activities of professional soccer players. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *27*, 2134-2140.

Aughey, R.J. (2011). Applications of GPS technologies to field sports. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, *6*, 295-310.

Balsom, P., Seger, J., Sjödin, B. & Ekblom, B. (1992a). Maximal-intensity intermittent exercise: effect of recovery duration. *International Journal of Sports Medicine, 13*, 528-533.

Balsom, P., Seger, J., Sjödin, B. & Ekblom, B. (1992b). Physiological responses to maximal intensity intermittent exercise. *European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology*, 65, 144-149.

Bangsbo, J., Norregaard, L. & Thorsø, F. (1991). Activity profile of competition soccer. *Canadian journal of sport sciences = Journal canadien des sciences du sport, 16*, 110-116.

Bangsbo, J., Madsen, K., Kiens, B. & Richter, E. (1996). Effect of muscle acidity on muscle metabolism and fatigue during intense exercise in man. *The Journal of physiology, 495*, 587-596.

Bangsbo, J. (1998). Quantification of anaerobic energy production during intense exercise. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise, 30*, 47-52.

Bangsbo, J., Mohr, M. & Krustrup, P. (2006). Physical and metabolic demands of training and match-play in the elite football player. *Journal of sports sciences, 24*⁽⁰⁷⁾, 665-674.

Bangsbo, J., Iaia, F.M. & Krustrup, P. (2007). Metabolic response and fatigue in soccer. *International journal of sports physiology and performance*, *2*, 111-127.

Banister, E.W., 1991. Modelling Elite Athletic Performance. In J. D. MacDougall, H.A. Wenger & H. J. Green (Eds.), *Physiological Testing of Elite Athletes* (pp.403-424).Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics.

Barr, M., Beaver, T., Turczyn, D. & Cornish, S. (2019). Validity and reliability of 15 Hz global positioning system units for assessing the activity profiles of university football players. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 33*, 1371-1379.

Barris, S. & Button, C. (2008). A review of vision-based motion analysis in sport. *Sports Medicine, 38*, 1025-1043.

Barros, R.M., Misuta, M.S., Menezes, R.P., Figueroa, P.J., Moura, F.A., Cunha, S.A., Anido, R. & Leite, N.J. (2007). Analysis of the distances covered by first division brazilian soccer players obtained with an automatic tracking method. *Journal of sports science & medicine, 6*, 233-242.

Billaut, F. & Basset, F.A. (2007). Effect of different recovery patterns on repeatedsprint ability and neuromuscular responses. *Journal of sports sciences, 25*⁽⁸⁾, 905-913.

Bishop, D., Edge, J. & Goodman, C. (2004). Muscle buffer capacity and aerobic fitness are associated with repeated-sprint ability in women. *European journal of applied physiology*, *92*, 540-547

Bishop, D. & Spencer, M. (2004). Determinants of repeated-sprint ability in welltrained team-sport athletes. *J.Sports Med.Phys, 44*, 1-7.
Bloomfield, J., Polman, R. & O'Donoghue, P. (2004). The 'Bloomfield Movement Classification': motion analysis of individual players in dynamic movement sports. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport, 4*, 20-31.

Bloomfield, J., Polman, R. & O'Donoghue, P. (2007). Reliability of the Bloomfield movement classification. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport, 7*, 20-27.

Bogdanis, G.C., Nevill, M.E., Boobis, L.H., Lakomy, H. & Nevill, A.M. (1995). Recovery of power output and muscle metabolites following 30 s of maximal sprint cycling in man. *The Journal of physiology*, *482*, 467-480.

Bogdanis, G.C., Nevill, M.E., Boobis, L.H. & Lakomy, H.K. (1996). Contribution of phosphocreatine and aerobic metabolism to energy supply during repeated sprint exercise. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md.: 1985), 80*, 876-884.

Booth, F.W. & Thomason, D.B. (1991). Molecular and cellular adaptation of muscle in response to exercise: perspectives of various models. *Physiological Reviews, 71*, 541-585.

Borg, G. A. (1982). Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 14, 377 – 381

Borg, G., Hassmén, P. & Lagerström, M. (1987). Perceived exertion related to heart rate and blood lactate during arm and leg exercise. *European journal of applied physiology and occupational physiology, 56*, 679-685.

Bot, S. & Hollander, A. (2000). The relationship between heart rate and oxygen uptake during non-steady state exercise. *Ergonomics*, *43*, 1578-1592.

Bouchard, C., & Rankinen, T. (2001). Individual differences in response to regular physical activity. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33, S446 – S451

Buchheit, M., Mendez-Villanueva, A., Simpson, B. & Bourdon, P. (2010). Match running performance and fitness in youth soccer. *International Journal of Sports Medicine, 31*, 818-825.

Buchheit, M., Allen, A., Poon, T.K., Modonutti, M., Gregson, W. & Di Salvo, V. (2014). Integrating different tracking systems in football: multiple camera semiautomatic system, local position measurement and GPS technologies. *Journal of sports sciences*, *32*, 1844-1857.

Carling, C., Bloomfield, J., Nelson, L. & Reilly, T. (2008). The role of motion analysis in elite soccer: contemporary performance measurement techniques and work rate data. *Sports Medicine, 38*, 389.

Carling, C., Le Gall, F. & Dupont, G. (2012). Are physical performance and injury risk in a professional soccer team in match-play affected over a prolonged period of fixture congestion? *International Journal of Sports Medicine, 33*, 36-42.

Carling, C. (2013). Interpreting physical performance in professional soccer matchplay: should we be more pragmatic in our approach? *Sports Medicine*, *43*, 655-663.

Casamichana, D., Castellano, J. & Castagna, C. (2012). Comparing the physical demands of friendly matches and small-sided games in semiprofessional soccer players. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 26*, 837-843.

Castellano, J., Casamichana, D., Calleja-Gonzalez, J. & Roman, J.S. (2011). Reliability and Accuracy of 10 Hz GPS Devices for Short-Distance Exercise. *Journal of sports science & medicine, 10*, 233-234.

Castellano, J., Alvarez-Pastor, D. & Bradley, P.S. (2014). Evaluation of research using computerised tracking systems (Amisco® and Prozone®) to analyse physical performance in elite soccer: A systematic review. *Sports medicine*, *44*, 701-712.

Colino, E., Garcia-Unanue, J., Sanchez-Sanchez, J., Calvo-Monera, J., Leon, M., Carvalho, M.J., Gallardo, L., Felipe, J.L. & Navandar, A. (2019). Validity and reliability of a commercially available indoor tracking system to assess distance and time in court-based sports. *Frontiers in psychology*, *10*, 2076.

Coutts, A.J. & Duffield, R. (2010). Validity and reliability of GPS devices for measuring movement demands of team sports. *Journal of science and Medicine in Sport, 13*, 133-135.

Dawson, B., Goodman, C., Lawrence, S., Preen, D., Polglaze, T., Fitzsimons, M. & Fournier, P. (1997). Muscle phosphocreatine repletion following single and repeated short sprint efforts. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 7*, 206-213.

Di Salvo, V., Baron, R., Tschan, H., Montero, F.C., Bachl, N. & Pigozzi, F. (2007). Performance characteristics according to playing position in elite soccer. *International Journal of Sports Medicine*, *28*, 222-227.

Di Salvo, V., Collins, A., McNeill, B. & Cardinale M. (2006). Validation of Prozone®: A new video-based performance analysis system. *International Journal of Performance Analysis in Sport, 6*, 108-119.

Djaoui, L., Wong del, P., Pialoux, V., Hautier, C., Da Silva, C.D., Chamari, K. & Dellal, A. (2014). Physical Activity during a Prolonged Congested Period in a Top-Class European Football Team. *Asian journal of sports medicine, 5*^{(,}, 47-53.

Drust, B., Reilly, T. & Cable, N. (2000). Physiological responses to laboratory-based soccer-specific intermittent and continuous exercise. *Journal of sports sciences, 18*, 885-892.

Duffield, R., Reid, M., Baker, J. & Spratford, W. (2010). Accuracy and reliability of GPS devices for measurement of movement patterns in confined spaces for courtbased sports. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 13*, 523-525.

Dupont, G., Moalla, W., Guinhouya, C., Ahmaidi, S. & Berthoin, S. (2004). Passive versus active recovery during high-intensity intermittent exercises. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *36*, 302-308.

Dupont, G., Nedelec, M., McCall, A., McCormack, D., Berthoin, S. & Wisløff, U. (2010). Effect of 2 soccer matches in a week on physical performance and injury rate. *The American Journal of Sports Medicine*, *38*, 1752-1758.

Edgecomb, S. & Norton, K. (2006). Comparison of global positioning and computerbased tracking systems for measuring player movement distance during Australian football. *Journal of science and Medicine in Sport,* 9, 25-32.

Edwards, R., Ekelund, L., Harris, R., Hesser, C., Hultman, E., Melcher, A. & Wigertz, O. (1973). Cardiorespiratory and metabolic costs of continuous and intermittent exercise in man. *The Journal of physiology*, 234, 481-497.

Edwards, S. (1993). The heart rate monitor book. New York: Polar Electro Oy.

Esposito, F., Impellizzeri, F.M., Margonato, V., Vanni, R., Pizzini, G. & Veicsteinas, A. (2004). Validity of heart rate as an indicator of aerobic demand during soccer activities in amateur soccer players. *European journal of applied physiology,* 93, 167-172.

Felipe, J.L., Garcia-Unanue, J., Viejo-Romero, D., Navandar, A. & Sánchez-Sánchez, J. (2019). Validation of a video-based performance analysis system (Mediacoach®) to analyze the physical demands during matches in LaLiga. *Sensors*, *19*, 4113.

Fédération Internationale de Football Association (FIFA) (2015). Approval of Electronic Performance and Tracking System (EPTS) devices.

https://digitalhub.fifa.com/m/2b487046465fa949/original/x4fy2rzjzaotp6usjtyk-pdf.pdf.

Foster, C., Florhaug, J.A., Franklin, J., Gottschall, L., Hrovatin, L.A., Parker, S., Doleshal, P. & Dodge, C. (2001). A new approach to monitoring exercise training. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 15*, 109-115.

Frosio, I., Pedersini, F. & Borghese, N.A. (2008). Autocalibration of MEMS accelerometers. *IEEE Transactions on Instrumentation and Measurement,* 58, 2034-2041.

Gabbett, T.J. (2016). The training-injury prevention paradox: should athletes be training smarter and harder? *British journal of sports medicine*, *50*, 273-280.

Gaitanos, G.C., Williams, C., Boobis, L.H. & Brooks, S. (1993). Human muscle metabolism during intermittent maximal exercise. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md.: 1985), 75*, 712-719.

Gregson, W., Drust, B., Atkinson, G. & Salvo, V. (2010). Match-to-match variability of high-speed activities in premier league soccer. *International Journal of Sports Medicine, 31*, 237-242.

Hamilton, A., Nevill, M., Brooks, S. & Williams, C. (1991). Physiological responses to maximal intermittent exercise: Differences between endurance-trained runners and games players. *Journal of sports sciences*, *9*, 371-382.

Hellsten, Y., Richter, E., Kiens, B. & Bangsbo, J. (1999). AMP deamination and purine exchange in human skeletal muscle during and after intense exercise. *The Journal of physiology, 520*, 909-920.

Impellizzeri, F.M., Rampinini, E., Coutts, A.J., Sassi, A. & Marcora, S.M. (2004). Use of RPE-based training load in soccer. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *36*, 1042-1047.

Impellizzeri, F.M., Rampinini, E. & Marcora, S.M. (2005). Physiological assessment of aerobic training in soccer. *Journal of sports sciences*, *23*, 583-592.

Jennings, D., Cormack, S., Coutts, A.J., Boyd, L. & Aughey, R.J. (2010). The validity and reliability of GPS units for measuring distance in team sport specific running patterns. *International journal of sports physiology and performance, 5*, 328-341.

Johnston, R.J., Watsford, M.L., Pine, M.J., Spurrs, R.W., Murphy, A.J. & Pruyn, E.C. (2012). The validity and reliability of 5-Hz global positioning system units to measure team sport movement demands. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, *2*6, 758-765.

Johnston, R.J., Watsford, M.L., Kelly, S.J., Pine, M.J. & Spurrs, R.W. (2014). Validity and interunit reliability of 10 Hz and 15 Hz GPS units for assessing athlete movement demands. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 28*, 1649-1655.

Jones, R.N., Greig, M., Mawéné, Y., Barrow, J. & Page, R.M. (2018). The influence of short-term fixture congestion on position specific match running performance and external loading patterns in English professional soccer. *Journal of sports sciences*, *37*⁽¹²⁾, 1338-1346.

Kentta, G., & Hassmen, P. (1998). Overtraining and recovery: A conceptual model. *Sports Medicine*, *26*, 1 – 16

Kovács, B.M., Malone, J., Bognár, M., Bali, P., & Pánics, G. (2020). Influence of team success, fixture congestion and playing position on physical performance of elite youth soccer players during an international tournament. *Journal of Human Sport and Exercise*, in press. Doi:https://doi.org/10.14198/jhse.2021.164.05

Krustrup, P. & Bangsbo, J. (2001). Physiological demands of top-class soccer refereeing in relation to physical capacity: effect of intense intermittent exercise training. *Journal of sports sciences, 19*, 881-891.

Krustrup, P., Mohr, M., Amstrup, T., Rysgaard, T., Johansen, J., Steensberg, A., Pedersen, P.K. & Bangsbo, J. (2003). The yo-yo intermittent recovery test: physiological response, reliability, and validity. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 35*, 697-705.

Krustrup, P., Mohr, M., Ellingsgaard, H. & Bangsbo, J. (2005). Physical demands during an elite female soccer game: importance of training status. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise*, *37*, 1242.

Krustrup, P., Mohr, M., Steensberg, A., Bencke, J., Kjær, M. & Bangsbo, J. (2006). Muscle and blood metabolites during a soccer game: implications for sprint performance. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise, 38*, 1165-1174.

Larsson, P. (2003). Global positioning system and sport-specific testing. *Sports medicine*, 33, 1093-1101.

Lemmink, K.A. & Visscher, S.H. (2006). Role of energy systems in two intermittent field tests in women field hockey players. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 20*, 682-688.

Liebermann, D.G., Katz, L., Hughes, M.D., Bartlett, R.M., McClements, J. & Franks, I.M. (2002). Advances in the application of information technology to sport performance. *Journal of sports sciences, 20*, 755-769.

Lucia, A., Hoyos, J., Santalla, A., Earnest, C. and Chicharro, J.L., 2003. Tour de France versus Vuelta a Espana: Which is harder? *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 35,* pp.872-878

Malone, J.J., Di Michele, R., Morgans, R., Burgess, D., Morton, J.P. & Drust, B. (2015). Seasonal training-load quantification in elite English premier league soccer players. *International journal of sports physiology and performance, 10*, 489-497.

Manzi, V., Iellamo, F., Impellizzeri, F.M., D'Ottavio, S. and Castagna, C., 2009. Relation between individualized training impulses and performance in distance runners. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 41*, pp.2090-2096.

Maughan, R. (1986). Exercise-induced muscle cramp: A prospective biochemical study in marathon runners. *Journal of sports sciences, 4*, 31-34.

McInnes, S., Carlson, J., Jones, C. & McKenna, M. (1995). The physiological load imposed on basketball players during competition. *Journal of sports sciences, 13*, 387-397.

McLean, D. (1992). Analysis of the physical demands of international rugby union. *Journal of sports sciences*, *10*, 285-296.

McLellan, C.P. & Lovell, D.I. (2012). Neuromuscular responses to impact and collision during elite rugby league match play. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, *26*, 1431-1440.

McMahon, S. & Jenkins, D. (2002). Factors affecting the rate of phosphocreatine resynthesis following intense exercise. *Sports Medicine*, *32*, 761-784.

Medbo, J.I. & Tabata, I. (1993). Anaerobic energy release in working muscle during 30 s to 3 min of exhausting bicycling. *Journal of applied physiology (Bethesda, Md.: 1985), 75*, 1654-1660.

Mendez-Villanueva, A., Buchheit, M., Simpson, B. & Bourdon, P. (2013). Match play intensity distribution in youth soccer. *Int J Sports Med, 34*, 101-110.

Mohr, M., Krustrup, P. & Bangsbo, J. (2003). Match performance of high-standard soccer players with special reference to development of fatigue. *Journal of sports sciences, 21*, 519-528.

Mohr, M., Krustrup, P., Nybo, L., Nielsen, J.J. & Bangsbo, J. (2004). Muscle temperature and sprint performance during soccer matches–beneficial effect of re-warm-up at half-time. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 14*, 156-162.

Mohr, M., Krustrup, P. & Bangsbo, J. (2005). Fatigue in soccer: a brief review. *Journal of sports sciences,* 23, 593-599.

Morgan, W. P. (1994). Psychological components of effort sense. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 26,* 1071 – 1077.

Narazaki, K., Berg, K., Stergiou, N. & Chen, B. (2009). Physiological demands of competitive basketball. *Scandinavian Journal of Medicine & Science in Sports, 19*, 425-432.

Nevill, M. E., Bogdanis, G. C., Boobis, L. H., Lakomy, H. K. A. & Williams, C. (1996). Muscle Metabolism and Performance During Sprinting. In R.J. Maughan & S.M. Shirreffs (Eds.), *Biochemistry of Exercise IX* (pp. 243-260). Champaign IL: Human Kinetics.

Odetoyinbo, K., Wooster, B. & Lane, A. (2008). The effect of a succession of matches on the activity profiles of professional soccer players. In T. Reilly & F. Korkusuz (Eds.), *Science and football VI: the proceedings of the Sixth World* (pp.105-110) London: Routledge

O'Donoghue, P.G. (2008) Time-motion analysis. In M. Hughes and I.M. Franks (eds), *Essentials of Performance Analysis: An introduction* (pp. 180–205). London: Routledge

O'donoghue, P. (2009). *Research methods for sports performance analysis.* London: Routledge.

O'Donoghue, P. (2014). *An introduction to performance analysis of sport*. London: Routledge.

Portas, M.D., Harley, J.A., Barnes, C.A. & Rush, C.J. (2010). The validity and reliability of 1-Hz and 5-Hz global positioning systems for linear, multidirectional, and soccer-specific activities. *International journal of sports physiology and performance, 5*, 448-458.

Rampinini, E., Bishop, D., Marcora, S., Bravo, D.F., Sassi, R. & Impellizzeri, F. (2007a). Validity of simple field tests as indicators of match-related physical performance in top-level professional soccer players. *International Journal of Sports Medicine, 28*, 228-235.

Rampinini, E., Coutts, A.J., Castagna, C., Sassi, R. & Impellizzeri, F.M. (2007b). Variation in top level soccer match performance. *International Journal of Sports Medicine, 28*, 1018-1024.

Rampinini, E., Alberti, G., Fiorenza, M., Riggio, M., Sassi, R., Borges, T. & Coutts, A. (2015). Accuracy of GPS devices for measuring high-intensity running in field-based team sports. *International Journal of Sports Medicine, 36*⁽⁰¹⁾, 49-53.

Randers, M.B., Mujika, I., Hewitt, A., Santisteban, J., Bischoff, R., Solano, R., Zubillaga, A., Peltola, E., Krustrup, P. & Mohr, M. (2010). Application of four different football match analysis systems: A comparative study. *Journal of sports sciences*, *28*, 171-182.

Rawstorn, J.C., Maddison, R., Ali, A., Foskett, A. & Gant, N. (2014). Rapid directional change degrades GPS distance measurement validity during intermittent intensity running. *PLOS ONE, 9*, e93693.

Reilly, T. and Thomas, V. (1976). A motion analysis of work-rate in different positional roles in professional football match-play. *Journal of Human Movement Studies*, *2*, 87–97.

Reilly, T. (2003). Motion Analysis and Physiological Demands. In T. Reilly & A. Mark Williams (Eds.), *Science and Soccer* (pp. 67-80). London: Routledge.

Reilly, T. (2006). *The science of training-soccer: A scientific approach to developing strength, speed and endurance.* London: Routledge.

Rey, E., Lago-Peñas, C., Lago-Ballesteros, J., Casais, L. & Dellal, A. (2010). THE *Effect of a congested fixture period on the activity of elite soccer players. Biology of Sport, 27*, 181-185

Ritchie, D., Hopkins, W.G., Buchheit, M., Cordy, J. & Bartlett, J.D. (2016). Quantification of training and competition load across a season in an elite Australian football club. *International journal of sports physiology and performance, 11*, 474-479.

Scott, B.R., Lockie, R.G., Knight, T.J., Clark, A.C. & de Jonge, Xanne AK Janse (2013). A comparison of methods to quantify the in-season training load of professional soccer players. *International journal of sports physiology and performance, 8*, 195-202.

Scott, M.T., Scott, T.J. & Kelly, V.G. (2016). The Validity and Reliability of Global Positioning Systems in Team Sport: A Brief Review. *Journal of strength and conditioning research*, *30*, 1470-1490.

Setterwall, D. (2003). *Computerised video analysis of football-technical and commercial possibilities for football coaching* (Unpublished Master's Thesis). Retrieved from

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.199.7303&rep=rep1&type =pdf.

Signorile, J.F., Tremblay, L.M. & Ingalls, C. (1993). The effects of active and passive recovery on short-term, high intensity power output. *Canadian Journal of Applied Physiology, 18*, 31-42.

Silva, J., Rumpf, M., Hertzog, M., Castagna, C., Farooq, A., Girard, O. & Hader, K. (2018). Acute and residual soccer match-related fatigue: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sports Medicine, 48*, 539-583.

Spencer, M., Lawrence, S., Rechichi, C., Bishop, D., Dawson, B. & Goodman, C. (2004). Time–motion analysis of elite field hockey, with special reference to repeated-sprint activity. *Journal of sports sciences, 22*, 843-850.

Spencer, M., Bishop, D., Dawson, B. & Goodman, C. (2005). Physiological and metabolic responses of repeated-sprint activities. *Sports medicine, 35*, 1025-1044.

Spencer, M., Bishop, D., Dawson, B., Goodman, C. & Duffield, R. (2006).

Metabolism and performance in repeated cycle sprints: active versus passive recovery. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise,* 38, 1492-1499.

Spencer, M., Dawson, B., Goodman, C., Dascombe, B. & Bishop, D. (2008). Performance and metabolism in repeated sprint exercise: effect of recovery intensity. *European journal of applied physiology*, *103*⁽⁵⁾, 545-552.

Stagno, K. M., Thatcher, R. and Van Someren, K.A., 2007. A modified TRIMP to quantify the in-season training load of team sport players. *Journal of Sports Sciences, 25*, pp.629-634

Suarez-Arrones, L., Torreno, N., Requena, B., De Villarreal, E., Casamichana, D., Carlos, J. & Barbero-Alvarez, D. (2014). Match-play activity profile in professional soccer players during official games and the relationship between external and internal load. *J.Sports Med.Phys.Fitness*, *55*, 1417-1422.

Tessaro, E. (2017). *Quantifying validity and reliability of GPS derived distances during simulated tennis movements* (Unpublished Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved

from

https://vtechworks.lib.vt.edu/bitstream/handle/10919/74980/Tessaro E T 2017.pdf? sequence=1.

Tomlin, D.L. & Wenger, H.A. (2001). The relationship between aerobic fitness and recovery from high intensity intermittent exercise. *Sports Medicine, 31* 1-11.

Tschakert, G. & Hofmann, P. (2013). High-intensity intermittent exercise: methodological and physiological aspects. *International journal of sports physiology and performance, 8*, 600-610.

Tumilty, D. (1993). Physiological characteristics of elite soccer players. *Sports medicine*, *16*, 80-96.

Varley, M.C., Fairweather, I.H. & Aughey1, 2., Robert J (2012). Validity and reliability of GPS for measuring instantaneous velocity during acceleration, deceleration, and constant motion. *Journal of sports sciences, 30*, 121-127.

Varley, M.C., Di Salvo, V., Modonutti, M., Gregson, W. & Mendez-Villanueva, A. (2018). The influence of successive matches on match-running performance during an under-23 international soccer tournament: The necessity of individual analysis. *Journal of sports sciences, 36*, 585-591.

Vickery, W.M., Dascombe, B.J., Baker, J.D., Higham, D.G., Spratford, W.A. & Duffield, R. (2014). Accuracy and reliability of GPS devices for measurement of sports-specific movement patterns related to cricket, tennis, and field-based team sports. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 28*, 1697-1705.

Viru, A., & Viru, M. (2000). Nature of training effects. In W. Garrett & D. Kirkendall (Eds.), *Exercise and sport science* (pp. 67 – 95). Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Williams.

Waegli, A., Skaloud, J., Tomé, P. & Bonnaz, J. (2007). Assessment of the integration strategy between GPS and body-worn MEMS sensors with application to sports. In *Proceedings of the 20th International Technical Meeting of the Satellite Division of The Institute of Navigation (ION GNSS 2007)*, 2075-2084.

Wasserman, K., Hansen, J., Sietsema, K., Sue, D.Y., Stringer, W.W., Sun, X-G. & Whipp, B.J. (2012). *Principles of exercise testing and interpretation: including pathophysiology and clinical applications,* 4th Edn. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins

Williams, J. & Tessaro, E. (2018). Validity and reliability of a 15 Hz GPS Device for court-based sports movements. *Sports Performance & Science Reports*, 29, 1–4.

Wisbey, B., Montgomery, P.G., Pyne, D.B. & Rattray, B. (2010). Quantifying movement demands of AFL football using GPS tracking. *Journal of science and Medicine in Sport, 13*, 531-536.

Zanetti, V., Carling, C., Aoki, M.S., Bradley, P.S. & Moreira, A. (2021). Are There Differences in Elite Youth Soccer Player Work Rate Profiles in Congested vs. Regular Match Schedules? *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 35*⁽²⁾, 473-480.